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We are the pioneers in a new technology
and industry. There are many problems and
difficulties in our way. We will conquer and
overcome. We believe our future will rest on
the people that we train and nurture today.

Together working as a team,
we will build and lead the digital content

development industry in Asia.

HARESRERERNHRE  E888 r NH#HE
B ZMEEHFER - BEEER ° HFIRE -
AZTHHBEMS HNE D - BBRMRIAREK -

BR—0 - ROEE - HEEBREH
2N R BUSEER R AR RS -
TAEBRRERE TE TN ERE

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #



CORPORATE PROFILE

Headquartered in Hong Kong, Global Digital Creations Holdings
Limited, together with its subsidiaries, (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group” or “GDC") is one of the leading
groups providing an integrated value chain in the digital content
business which encompasses computer graphics (“CG") creation
and production, distribution and exhibitions of digital content,
and training of CG artists in the Asia Pacific region.

GDC has built a production pipeline in the city of Shenzhen in
the People’s Republic of China* (the “PRC") for the production
of CG content for animated films, TV series and other CG
applications. GDC is currently producing a 3D full feature CG
animated film namely, Thru the Moebius Strip and co-producing
a 52-episode animated TV series programme titled Panshel’s
World.

To secure a stable supply of CG creation and production staff for
CG projects, GDC has organized CG training courses in Shenzhen
in co-operation with Shenzhen University since year 2000. Having
trained over 400 CG artists, GDC now has a strong CG production
team with over 300 animators and artists, the largest in the PRC
and in Asia. In September 2003, GDC extended its training
services to Shanghai to nurture talents.

Leveraging its proprietary technologies in digital film processing,
encryption, compression, storage, delivery and distribution, GDC
developed a proprietary 2K x 1K digital cinema solution. In 2002,
the Group successfully used its proprietary DSR™ Digital Film
Agile Encoder for the premiere of The Missing Gun, the PRC's
first digitally released film. The Group has, since early 2003,
commercialized its digital cinema solution under the DSR™ range
of equipment for supply to digital cinemas worldwide.

Shares of the Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 8271.HK) and traded on the Regulated Unofficial Markets
of Frankfurt, Berlin, and Munich Stock Exchanges (Reuters:
8271.F/8271.BE/8271.MU/8271.DE (XETRA) and Bloomberg: GDC
GR EQUITY).

GDC's vision is to become a leader in the digital content
development industry in the Asia Pacific region.

*  For the purpose of this annual report, the People’s Republic of China or China
mainland excludes Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions and

Taiwan.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Joint Chairmen (Non-exective Directors):

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh
Mr. Cao Zhong

Executive Directors

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh (Vice-chairman)
Mr. Chen Zheng (General Manager)

Non-executive Director
Dr. David Deng Wei (Vice-chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung
Professor Japhet Sebastian Law
Mr. Paul Kwan Yuen Chiu

CHIEF TECHNOLOGY OFFICER
Dr. Chong Man Nang

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER & QUALIFIED
ACCOUNTANT
Ms. Cheung Kei Yim

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Chen Zheng

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cheung Kei Yim
Mr. Ira Stuart Outerbridge Ill (Assistant Secretary)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh
Professor Japhet Sebastian Law

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Professor Japhet Sebastian Law (Chairman)
Dr. David Deng Wei

DISCLOSURE POLICY COMMITTEE

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh (Chairman)

Dr. David Deng Wei

Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung

Professor Japhet Sebastian Law
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh

Mr. Chen Zheng

BERMUDA RESIDENT REPRESENTATIVE
Mr. John C. R. Collis

BERMUDA DEPUTY RESIDENT REPRESENTATIVE
Mr. Anthony D. Whaley
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WEBSITE ADDRESS 44 3t
http://www.gdc-world.com http://www.gdc-world.com
STOCK CODE iR A
8271.HK 8271.HK
Reuters: 8271.F/8271.BE/8271.MU/8271.DE (XETRA) BiE - 8271.F/8271.BE/8271.MU/8271.DE
Bloomberg: GDC GR EQUITY ] (XETRA)

i GDC GR EQUITY
HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BEREANEERTEE XN
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Suites 1804-5, Hutchison House &5
10 Harcourt Road, Central FIRERE 105
Hong Kong ME KNE18121804-5%
REGISTERED OFFICE HMREE
Clarendon House Clarendon House
2 Church Street 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11 Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda Bermuda
AUDITORS % S ED
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu = e BEMA SEANTT
SPONSOR RE A
Goldbond Capital (Asia) Limited SERE (DM BRAF
LEGAL ADVISERS LR
As to Hong Kong Laws BB EE
Gallant Y.T. Ho & Co. ] R RD E AT
As to Bermuda Laws BREELE
Conyers Dill & Pearman Conyers Dill & Pearman
PRINCIPAL BANKERS FEFRET
Hang Seng Bank Limited BAERITAERAA
The Development Bank of Singapore Ltd. ERIETT
Standard Chartered Bank BITIR 1T
Shenzhen Commercial Bank AT EERT
Bank of China W E R 1T
PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND ROBFPETRE
TRANSFER OFFICE
The Bank of Bermuda Limited The Bank of Bermuda Limited
Bank of Bermuda Building Bank of Bermuda Building
6 Front Street 6 Front Street
Hamilton HM 11 Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda Bermuda
HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND EERMBFEEIE
TRANSFER OFFICE
Standard Registrars Limited BREZLAERZERAA
Ground Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre BEET
56 Gloucester Road LE+iTE 556%3%
Wanchai, Hong Kong REHRTEEP LT
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The Company has progressed steadily from developmental stage
to commercialisation stage during the last year. The Film Thru
the Moebius Strip was completed and although marketing got
off to a slow start, it was launched at the American Film Market
in the third quarter of 2004, attracting substantial interest.
Building on this interest and comments from the market, an
enhanced version has been completed and we hope to release
the Film within 2005. This marks an exciting chapter in the
development of the Group as the quality of the Group’s work as
can be seen from the Film is already attracting interest from
among television and film producers in the United States. The
Management of the Group is in discussion with a wide range of

prospective clients for computer graphics animation.

I am also pleased that as at the date of this Report, Mr. Steven
D. Katz, an accomplished and international prize winning
computer graphics director and producer has joined the Group
as International Director. It has always been my hope that the
Group can have the benefit of someone of his experience to
help guide us in the next stage of development. It is also my
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

\cis. Neoh, Chairman

hope that building upon Mr. Katz's expertise and his international
contacts, the Group will be able attract international strategic
partners in its computer graphics production activities. The market
for computer graphics animation continues to be vast despite
new entrants in the marketplace. The Group's training activities
in Mainland China continue to attract talented artists and the
attractive cost structure of the Group’s computer animation studio
combined with the quality of its work will form a formidable

platform for a partnership with international strategic partners.

The Digital Cinema side of the business has grown enormously,
due to the strong rate of uptake of digital cinemas in China and
Europe. Whilst the lack of capital has kept us from franchising
more of our own cinemas, the developmental and marketing
work undertaken by us in the past three years, has clearly borne
fruit and the Group presently enjoys market leadership position
in the supply of digital cinema servers and associated equipment.
| expect that the trend towards equipping cinemas with digital
imaging devices will continue, but there is already keen
competition in the marketplace and | expect this competition to

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT X E & o 7
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intensify rapidly. In the next few years, the Group will either
have to spend very substantial sums in research and development
and marketing in order to keep up with the intensifying
competition in the digital cinema equipment marketplace, or
consider disposal of this business and apply the resulting proceeds
to concentrate on and expand upon its computer graphics content
creation business, and eventually build up its own digital content
distribution business, using equipment from among the increasing
number of suppliers in the market of which the Group is presently

one.

The successful completion of the Voluntary Exchange Offer made
by Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited in March 2005 has
made it the Group’s majority shareholder. As a result of the
change of control, | share the Chairmanship of the Board jointly
with Mr. Cao Zhong and would like to welcome him and his
colleague, Mr. Chen Zheng to the Board. This partnership with
Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited will ensure that the
Group will not only have the support of a majority shareholder
of substance but also the Group will be assured of access to the
extensive commercial network of its substantial shareholder,
Shougang Holding (Hong Kong) Limited. At the same time, the
assumption of management of the Group by Shougang Concord
Grand (Group) Limited, will enable the Group to enjoy a level of
management resources not hitherto possible with the limited

financial resources available to the Group.

With the support of a financially strong and well connected
majority shareholder, the Group is uniquely positioned to pursue
its business objective of becoming Asia’s leading computer
graphics content creator. The computer graphics market
internationally is vast, as is the media market in China. Starting
a new chapter in its life, the Group can now look forward to

steady growth in the future.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Finally, I would like to thank Mr. Stephen Scharf, who resigned
from the Board on 16 February, 2005 and Mr. Paul Kwan who
will retire from the Board at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting of shareholders, for their support and their sterling
contribution to the Board's work.

Anthony Francis Neoh
Joint Chairman
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The Group has emerged from concept to reality in the past 4
years. Starting with 2 digital cinema systems in May 2002 in
Shanghai, in 2004 we have deployed over 500 systems worldwide
and now has over 60% of the digital and electronic cinema
market worldwide servers and associated equipment market
share. We have built one of the largest CG studios in China and
produced a full CG movie and various CG projects in it. We are
also one of the largest full-time CG training providers in China,
with over 700 graduates from our institutes in Shenzhen and
Shanghai so far. Furthermore, we have developed experience in
working in Hollywood special effects production and games
production. We have co-produced the first part of a TV series
with a French and a German partner. We successfully relaunched
"Thru the Moebius Strip” (the “Film"”) in American Film Market
in November 2004. Moreover, we have recruited a new sales
agent for distributing “Thru the Moebius Strip” worldwide. 2005
will be the year that we will make a difference in the world
content creation/production market.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’'S REVIEW & OUTLOOK

H1TE S B ME

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, Vice-chairman and executive director
REESR LaERnares

kKE=E#HS

The objective for this review is to provide our shareholders with
an overview in respect of the Group’s three major operations
namely, CG content creation and production (including intellectual
property development and exploitation), CG training and digital
content distribution and exhibitions.

A. CG CONTENT CREATION AND PRODUCTION

1. Feature CG Film Production
“Thru the Moebius Strip”

This is the biggest investment GDC has ever made. We
have recruited a new sales agent to distribute the Film
worldwide. In the meantime, we have sold the exhibition
rights of the Film to various territories and we have
received offers from major territories around the world.
As regards distribution of the Film in North America, we
aim to structure a distribution agreement to maximize
our potential.
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In addition to the Film, GDC has also entered into 2 co-
production agreements with 2 US studios to produce 6
CG feature films in the next 5 years which is contingent
on their raising the necessary capital for development
and production. To date they have not confirmed success
in their capital raising efforts, but we remain hopeful,
since these studios are well connected in Hollywood. We
have also been approached by other independent
producers to produce live action movies with heavy special

effects and CG elements and are in discussions with them.

Television CG series

We have already produced 13 episodes of Panshel’s World,
our co-production with French Co-producers. Although
we are in litigation with them and pending clarification
of their rights, we have stopped production, we are
hopeful that we can exploit the full economic value of
the project in due course. In the meantime, we are in
negotiation with several major US CG production
companies for co-producing TV series and other "“Jobs
for Hire" only projects. We plan to commence the
production of a high-definition TV series version of the
Film in summer 2005 with other co-production partners
and already we have various developmental storyboards,
stories and artwork.

Games development and production

We have entered into a co-production agreement with
Gameone Online Entertainment Group Limited in Hong
Kong to co-develop and co-produce an online game for
the China market. In addition, GDC produced “Job for
Hire” projects for Turbine, Sony Online, etc.. We are
expanding into the games, cinematic, animation and
markets. Currently, we are working together with some
major games producers from Korea, Japan, France, and
the US.
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Feature film special effects and commercial

GDC had worked with major Hollywood producers in
producing special effects for Hollywood feature films last
year. We are actively seeking opportunity through our US
marketing agent for special effects productions in live
action films. We are also approached by other independent
producers to produce CG films which are heavy in special

effects this year.

In addition, GDC completed a large format ride film up
to 9K x 1.5K resolution for a US client last year. We are
actively engaged in the production of amusement park
‘Ride Film" and stereoscopic 3D projection movie.

In 2004, GDC entered into the commercial market for TV
in China. We have produced several TV commercials and
openings for TV series in China and station ID for TV

stations.

Merchandising and licensing

GDC developed a full line of merchandising and licensing
program for the Film. We participated in the New York
Licensing Show and the Hong Kong Licensing Show for
the past 4 years. We are actively developing new
characters for merchandising and licensing.

Research and Development

GDC plans to set up a CG research and development
laboratory in Singapore to be named “The Digital Acting
Lab". The main objective of the laboratory is to provide
facilities for research of animation technology, high volume
CG production, rendering technology and digital asset
management in a high volume production environment.
Preliminary discussions have commenced the Singapore
Government and we intend to progress with these
discussions in 2005.
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CG TRAINING

IDMT has expanded its training facilities in Shanghai
together with the Shanghai labour department. There are
over 240 full-time students enrolling in the CG training
courses of our institutes in Shanghai and Shenzhen. We
have published 3 new text books last year and we are in
the process of finishing 3 more books to be published in
2005. We are also expanding our services to provide long-
distance CG training courses in China.

DIGITAL CONTENT DISTRIBUTION AND
EXHIBITIONS

Film was invented in the nineteenth century. It remains
the medium by which movie is distributed to nearly
150,000 cinemas in the world. Making a release print (of
a full feature length movie) costs nearly US$2,000 per
screen and each print is distributed in reels of bulky film,
costing money to transport and store and it is difficult to
avoid copyright theft. Also, a cinema is restricted to
showing a few movies at a time and only movies can be
shown in a cinema, restricting the use of cinemas. Digital
distribution will change all this. It costs very little to
produce a digital print and digital prints can be
transported by small hard disks or transmitted by satellite
or broadband network. Cinemas can have much choice
from central data storage in the cinema multiplex and
around the world. More importantly, cinemas will be
released from having just to show movies.

Digital cinema ("D-cinema”) continues to represent a
growth market for GDC Technology Limited and its
subsidiary (“GDC Tech”) in the year ended 2004 as less
than 1% of the world cinemas have converted to digital.
The turnover of GDC Tech for the year ended 31 December
2004 was approximately HK$42.9 million which, when
compared with the turnover of GDC Tech for the year
ended 31 December 2003 of HK$8.9 million, represented
an increase of approximately 382%.
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At the end of 2004, GDC Tech counted 21 employees in
Hong Kong, Singapore and Shenzhen with total
expenditure for research and development amounted to

less than 10% of sales.

GDC Tech continues its world leadership in D-cinema
market share with over 300 servers delivered in 2004.
GDC Tech is pleased to announce that in 2004, it captured
100% of the D-cinema server sales in China with orders
of 137 units of DSR™ Digital Film Servers. GDC Tech’s
DSR™ Digital Film Servers now make up for approximately
80% of the total digital cinema market in China. The
order of 100 units of Servers from China also includes an
integrated server - projector solution from GDC
Technology - DFP2000. The DFP2000 integrated digital
film projection system is the world’s first integrated server
and projector all-in-one. GDC's DSR™ Secured Link
technology is used in DFP2000 to protect the delivery of
content from the server to its integrated projector.
DFP2000 also offers additional security by supporting
watermark and real-time subtitle rendering that is

independent of projector technology.

In 2004, GDC Tech also entered into the European market
by winning the order from Europe largest electronic
cinema network - CinemaNet Europe after going through
an exhaustive evaluation process consisting of 14 server
manufacturers and four ranges of projectors. According
to the January 2005, Issue 11 of High Definition magazine,
CinemaNet Europe has a budget of £20 million for
hardware, software and supporting infrastructures for a
period of five years with contribution from the European
Union’s MEDIA programme. GDC Tech has completed
delivery of 70 servers to CinemaNet Europe in 2004 and
it expects to deliver more than 100 servers to CinemaNet
Europe in 2005. In 2004, 180 independent cinemas across
Europe were committed to install customised GDC Tech
DSR™ Servers alongside DLP™ projectors from Panasonic.
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The network went live across Austria, Belgium, France,
Germany, The Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Slovakia and
the UK with the premiere of Peace One Day on November
12th and 13th, 2004.

GDC Tech has also successfully entered into the US market
in 2004; more than 30 D-cinemas theatres were installed

in more than 11 states across the US in 2004.

During the year, Mukta Adlabs Digital Exhibition Limited
(“Mukta Adlabs”) did not meet the target of installing
400 servers for the year ended 31 December 2004. Mukta
Adlabs has temporarily stopped the order of new servers
until the upgrading of digital projectors from a single
chip to 3-chip DLP projectors is completed. GDC Tech
continues its discussion with Mukta Adlabs for the order
of new servers. However, GDC Tech also expanded its
market share in India by retrofitting 5 cinemas in South
India with GDC Tech’s digital servers.

Overall, GDC Tech has led the digital cinema market in
China, Asia and worldwide.
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In the third quarter of 2004, GDC Tech launched a new
technology - synchronized playout for its line of DSR™
Servers at the International Broadcast Convention (“IBC"),
an international exhibition held in Amsterdam, the
Netherlands. Traditionally used in theatres only, the server
range of products, namely SA1000 DSR™ Digital Film
Server and SZ1000 DSR™ Z Server could be the latest
digital solution for three-dimensional (3D) films and multi-
screen theatre presentation in museums and theme parks
with the synchronized playout technology. Multiple DSR™
Servers can now be configured as synchronized servers
for applications in complex theatrical presentations.

One of the latest additions to GDC Tech’s growing list of
customers now includes the Deng XiaoPing Memorial
Museum in China. Along with the China Research Institute
of Film Science and Technology (CRIFST), GDC Tech
successfully installed a synchronized, multiple-server
system in the museum. This enabled China’s first 4k digital
cinema theatre comprising multiple projectors
synchronized by multiple servers with single frame
accuracy. The 4K (3840 X 1024) images, encoded using
EN1000 - DSR™ Digital Film Agile Encoder, are projected
with 3 DLP Cinema™ projectors (1.3K each) in
synchronization on the large screen, using 3 Cinema™

Servers.

OUTLOOK
CG Content Creation and Production and CG Training

The content creation business is based on our ability to create
and produce works to our customers’ satisfaction. In addition, it
depends on our marketing strength. GDC is active in all major
international trade shows and exhibitions. We have also
appointed our US marketing agent. With the initial response of
the launch of our feature film “Thru the Moebius Strip” in AFM
last year, we will have a successful year ahead of us.
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IDMT, the Group’s training arm, has been established as the
premium CG training center in China. We have opened up our
training facilities in Shanghai and now we are able to secure
rent-free training facilities in Shanghai from Changing
government. We are expanding our recruitment program in 2005
and expect that our turnover in respect of CG training will
increase in 2005.

Digital Content Distribution and Exhibitions

According to an industrial report prepared by Scenic Wonders
Inc. and Digital Cinema Report, the compound annual growth
rate (CAGR) in D-cinema installations over the period from 2005
to 2009 will be in the range of approximately 120% to 140%.
This prediction is in line with Barco’s digital cinema growth in
2004 at 163.9%.

GDC Tech, which launched the D-cinema servers 2 years ago,
has sold more than 400 of them in the year ended 2004, but
the fact that almost half of these were sold in the fourth quarter
of 2004 might suggest a possible avalanche in demand in the

coming years.

We shall continue to deliver our DSR™ range of D-cinema
equipment to customers around the world, and to increase our
market share in the D-cinema market. Today, GDC Tech dominates
the world market in D-cinema solution; we have sold over 400
DSR™ Servers in the marketplace and its sales volume is growing.
GDC Tech possesses both the high-end D-cinema and economical
electronic cinema server technologies and 2005 will see GDC
Tech to consolidate its market leadership for both digital and
electronic cinema.
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DIRECTORS
Joint Chairmen and Non-executive Directors

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh, SC, JP, aged 58, is the Non-
executive Joint Chairman of the Board. Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh
together with Mr. Cao Zhong, the other Joint Chairman is
responsible for the operational and strategic planning of the
Group. In October 1998, at the invitation of the then Premier
Zhu Rongji, he became the Chief Advisor of the China Securities
and Regulatory Commission in which position he served until
June 2004. He was appointed as the Chairman of the Hong
Kong Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC") in 1995 in which
capacity he served until September 1998. Prior to chairing the
SFC, he served 13 years in the Hong Kong Civil Service having
served in various directorate appointments before joining the
private Bar in 1979. During his time in the private Bar, he was
active in public service, serving as a member of many public
boards. He is an actively practising Senior Counsel of the Hong
Kong Bar and is a member of the California Bar and the English
Bar. He was the Chairman of the Technical Committee of the
International Organisation of Securities Commissions from 1996
to 1998. He also served as visiting professor in many universities,
including Peking, Tsinghua and Harvard Universities. He is
Independent Non-executive Director of Bank of China Limited,
China Shu Hua Energy Co., Ltd, and Link Management Limited.
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh is the elder brother of Mr. Raymond
Dennis Neoh.

Mr. Cao Zhong, aged 45, graduated from Zhejiang University,
the PRC and Graduate School, The Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences with a bachelor degree in engineering and a master
degree in economics. He is a non-executive director and the
joint chairman of the Company in February 2005. He was
appointed as the chairman of Shougang Concord Century
Holdings Limited and Shougang Concord Technology Holdings
Limited, the deputy chairman and general manager of Shougang
Holding (Hong Kong) Limited, the managing director of Shougang
Concord International Enterprises Company Limited and the vice
chairman of Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited. He also
acts as the assistant general manager of Shougang Corporation
and the chairman of China Shougang International Trade and
Engineering Corporation. Mr. Cao has extensive experience in
corporate management and operation.

55

BEIFERFATES

REMBLE  ERKEH - KF#HL 58
o TEFEHRATHEIR - REHLLE
HRESTEREAEE 2 EE LR

B o-R—AANFETA ZRBEMBEEZ
BE RAERBBEANTEESREEEER
BEevEFEER BEE_ZTWFXRA - H

R—NWNITEEZEREEBZHFLRBEEH
ERZEg([BEg)2xF  AHEZ—
NANFRARLE -EXATFESEREA -
2RERBREALNBERMLET=F &
EEBEAEBER BER—NERFRABILA
HMEXNEM - EFLABEREZMEBAMB - i
ERBLERNRER  DREAmafIzE
Z o REERBPXERBEBREMREZE
RAEE - BEEREZMFEREEMAEMA
eRABBAZMAE 88 - ERX— A
NEE-—NNANFHBEETREESEHE
REBEEHEBIBNZES XK - BEAE
CHEZBMAZE (BEILIRKRE  FERERR
BREB)EEREHE - BRAPERITERA
A * China Shu Hua Energy Co., Ltd % BJE
BREBERANAIZEBILIFENITES - BF
BEEDREHEEZHN ©

BEREE 455 EXRFENTIARERF
BHeMBERfRER KEIZEL 2
ERBEBELEM - EEEAR _TTRF
AERRRIZHATEERBFELE - B
ARERBEEEEARAFALRERNMREESR
RARCEER BEHERGEE)ERAA
ZEEERRAKLE BREREGEXARLD
AZEFRKEERERNT (KB ARAT
ZEIERE BN EFEMRELRZLKEREDY
ERGEEHERESIRERRZESER -
ERERRAAEENZE T HAEERSR -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited “
2 R ¥ B & B 2 R 5 R 2 3F



e DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENTPROFILEEEREREBAEFH N

-

-::&E_Ju

Executive Directors

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, aged 54, is the founder of the
Group. Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh is also the Vice-chairman of
the Group and the Chief Operating Officer in charge of the CG
training, content creation and production business of the Group.
Mr. Neoh is also responsible for establish the digital cinema
group within the company by recruited Dr. Chong Man Nang as
CEO for GDC Technology. Together with Dr. Chong had built
GDC Technology to be the world market leader for digital and
electronic cinema today. He holds a Bachelor degree in Business
Administration from Hawaii Pacific University and Master degree
in International Management from the American Graduate School
of International Management in May 1976. He has been involved
in computer imagining and graphic since early 1980’'s in
California. He is a voting member of the American Computer
Machine Association and a member of SIGGRAPH. In 1998, he
obtained support from the Hong Kong Government and the City
University of Hong Kong to establish Digital Content Development
Corporation Limited (“DCDC") and trained over 300 CG artists
from 1998 to early 2000. Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh was an
executive director of DCDC between 26 March 1999 and 13
October 2001. Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh is the younger brother
of Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh.

Mr. Chen Zheng, aged 44, is an engineer and a senior
economist. Mr. Chen holds a bachelor degree in chemical
engineering and a master degree in business administration. He
is an Executive Director and General Manager of the Company
in February 2005. He is also an executive director of Shougang
Concord Grand (Group) Limited. Mr. Chen has extensive
experience in investing business and corporate management.
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Non-executive Director

Dr. David Deng Wei, male, aged 41, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of {85 % E. Dr. Deng holds a bachelor degree
in Electronic Engineering, a master degree in Business
Administration and a PhD. degree in Economics and is a senior
engineer. He was a member of the Nineth and Tenth Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Executive Committee Member of the National Federation of
Industry and Commerce, Standing Committee Member of the
National Federation of Youth, Vice Chairman of the Young
Entrepreneur Association of the PRC. Dr. Deng was also one of
the ‘Ten Most Outstanding Youth in the PRC’ in its Tenth annual

election and received a ‘May Labor Day’ Excellent National Award.

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung, aged 55, was a graduate of
the University of Hong Kong in 1972 and qualified as a chartered
accountant in England in 1977. Mr. Kwong was a partner of
Price Waterhouse Hong Kong from 1984 to 1998. He has served
as a part-time panel member of the Hong Kong Government’s
Central Policy Unit from 1993 to 1995 and was an independent
member of the Council of the Stock Exchange from 1992 to
1997 during which time he also acted as convener of both the
Compliance Committee and the Listing Committee of the Stock
Exchange. Currently, he is also a non-executive director of
COSCO Pacific Limited, a Hong Kong listed company, and
independent non-executive director of a number of Hong Kong
listed companies, including COSCO International Holdings
Limited, Tianjin Development Holdings Limited, Beijing Capital
International Airport Co. Limited, Vision Century Corporation
Limited, NWS Holdings Limited, China Qilfield Services Limited,
Concepta Investments Limited, China Chengtong Development
Group Limited, Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China,
Limited, Quam Limited, Tom Online Inc., China Power
International Development Limited, New World Mobile Holdings
Limited, Henderson Land Development Company Limited,
Henderson Investment Limited and Henderson China Holdings
Limited
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Professor Japhet Sebastian Law, aged 53, obtained his Ph.D.
in Mechanical/Industrial Engineering from the University of Texas
at Austin in 1976. He joined the Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 1986. He was the Associate Dean and subsequently the
Dean of the Faculty of Business Administration of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong from 1993 until 2002. Prior to returning
to Hong Kong, Professor Law was the Director of Operation
Research at the Cullen College of Engineering and Director of
Graduate Studies in Industrial Engineering at the University of
Houston, and was also involved with the U.S. Space Program in
his career with McDonnell Douglas and Ford Aerospace in the
United States.

various corporations in Hong Kong and overseas.

Professor Law has acted as a consultant with
He is also
active in public services, having served as Member of the
Provisional Regional Council of the Hong Kong SAR Government,
and various Government and charitable boards and committees.
Professor Law is a Professor in the Department of Decision
Sciences and Managerial Economics at the Chinese University of
Hong Kong.

Mr. Paul Kwan Yuen Chiu, aged 64, is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of International Accountants U.K. and has since 1995
been a director and since 1992 the president of Forumax
Company Limited which is in management consultancy business.
Mr. Kwan was a joint managing director of Playmates
International Holdings Limited Hong Kong between 1988 and
1991 and was a director and first executive vice president of a
public company in New York City (which subsequently became a
division of MCA INC. USA) from 1983 to 1987. Prior to 1983,
Mr. Kwan was a director and group controller of the Universal
Group Hong Kong, which engaged in manufacturing, marketing
and distribution business with subsidiaries in Asia and the Pacific,

North America and Europe, for over 10 years.
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Senior Management

Dr. Man Nang CHONG, aged 39, is the Chief Executive Officer
of GDC Technology Limited, which is a subsidiary of a Hong
Kong public listed company — Global Digital Creations Holdings
Limited. GDC Technology pioneers digital post-production,
delivery and presentation technologies. GDC Technology is a
leader in digital cinema products and has an unsurpassed track
record of successfully installing more than 400 servers worldwide
and half a million perfect screenings of full-length feature films.

Dr. Chong received his B. Eng. (1st Honours) and Ph.D. degrees,
both in Electronic and Electrical Engineering from University of
Strathclyde, UK in 1988 and 1992, respectively. Prior to joining
GDC Technology Limited, he is an associate professor of School
of Computer Engineering at Nanyang Technological University,
Singapore, from 1992 to 2000. He is also leading the digital
film, high definition television and digital TV research in
Singapore. Dr. Chong has been actively involved in the field of
image processing, video coding, digital cinema and motion picture
restoration for over a decade.

In 1996, Dr. Chong led a team to win the worldwide Texas
Instruments’ Digital Signal Processing Solutions Challenge
US$100,000 award. In 1999, Dr Chong founded Nirvana Digital
Pte Ltd, a leading digital signal processing company and was
subsequently acquired by Acterna Incorporation (NASDAQ: ACTR)
in 2000. Acterna Incorporation is the holding company of Da
Vinci Systems Incorporation which is the market leader in
providing digital film, HDTV and SDTV colour enhancement
technology to the worldwide post-production marketplace. Dr
Chong was the Chief Consultant of Da Vinci Technologies from
Year 2000-2002. Dr Chong is credited with the architecture,
design, and successful commercial release of Nirvana's award-
winning REVIVAL DIGITAL® product lines. REVIVAL DIGITAL® has
been used to restore a large number of movies.
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Ms. Cheung Kei Yim, aged 34, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and Company Secretary of the Company. She is
responsible for overseeing the Group's financial and company
secretarial operations. She holds a Bachelor's degree of Business
Administration in Accounting. She is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Association of International
Accountants. Prior to joining the Company in 2005, she was
Vice President, Compliance of Champion Technology Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange in Hong Kong and she was also the Company Secretary
of Kantone Holdings Limited, another Hong Kong Listed company.
Ms. Cheung has broad knowledge in corporate financial
management, accounting, tax planning, corporate governance
and compliance, human resources management and corporate
administration. Ms. Cheung had also worked for Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu and has broad Assurance and Advisory experience.

Ms. Ellen Ling Xu, aged 42, is the Studio Manager of Institute
of Digital Media Technology (Shenzhen) Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. Ms. Xu graduated from Shangdong
Teacher’s University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in English
language and literature. Ms. Xu has over 7 years of experience
in the animation industry and was a production manager of
Pacific Rim Animation Co. Ltd., an American animation studio in
Shenzhen, the PRC from 1992 to 1994 and the producer of the
Spanish television series The Adventure of Professor Thomason.
She also has over 7 years of experience in marketing. She had
served as one of the judges for Animation of Golden Eagle
Award, the biggest award for TV programs in the PRC and is
currently an active member of Cartoon Commission of the
Chinese TV Artists Association.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #

REEAEBEBHN

RESLL  3ME - EAKREZHBRAER
ARBZARAME RABEEASEZH
BROFMESTE WEAIHEEGIE
BLEBM REBSHMASHESHOL
BRGHMAEER - R_TTAFMAKR
REZAE  REEEEMREEAERAAF (—
ARBEABMIMEIRLETZOR]) ZEEER
Bl BENEEREAREARAR(NRE
BLETMRA) ZARAWE - REEINEERK
BE g5t MBERE LCEEARARER
ANEREERRGCETHEE T AEEE R
BE - RULITEEREH - BEEMRN S5
T YHELEERNEARTER -

FAzt 2K FEAEE-—HE2EWNEBEAR
AIRBETBEREN R REELE - HEX
RILFMBARBUHERBEEBEERNEE T
B T RTEHEREETAEERTIFZ
BHER— AN _FE-ANEOFEBET
Pacific Rim Animation Co. Ltd. (f£ 7 B &
N —REBBDEREE) 2 RUEKERAM
7 E18 X5 F The Adventure of Professor
Thomason 2R A « T MAEMISHEE
FEEBRIFZER HrthBERE
H(PEHEANERGHERE)FZ 22— B
AATEERENRHE RBENEZEEG L
EHRKE .



DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILEEE R 5 R EBAEEA o

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EERSREEBAEBN

Mr. Steven D. Katz is the author of Shot by Shot, a best-selling
film-directing textbook that has been translated into five
languages. To date, more than 200,000 copies have been sold.
His second book, Cinematic Motion, is now in a second edition.
Both books are standards in dozens of university and film school
curriculums. He was partner and writer/director with Pitch, Inc.,
a New York-based content development and production studio.
His short film, PROTEST, won the Gold at the Deauville Film
Festival in 1999, First Prize and a Special Jury Award at Imagina
in 2000, the Horizon Award at the Aspen Film Festival 2000, the
Gold Jury award at the Houston Film Festival and 12 other
international awards. He is also well known for his work at
Curious Pictures where he created and directed Curious Digital,
New York's largest computer graphics studio for character
animation and effects. His design for the assassination sequence
for the Paramount blockbuster, Clear and Present Danger, was
widely regarded as the most advanced previsualization at the
time and has been widely featured in trade publications, books,
and on a special segment of Entertainment Tonight. This
pioneering work is now part of a permanent exhibit at the
Museum of the Moving Image in New York City.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover of the Group amounted to approximately HK$48 million
for the year ended 31 December 2004 (2003: HK$11 million),

representing an increase of approximately 318% compared to

that of last year. By excluding allowances for production work in
progress of HK$84.6 million and an impairment loss in respect
of property, plant and equipment of HK$14.9 million, details of
which are given below, the operating loss for the year ended 31
December 2004 decreased somewhat from HK$28 million at year
end of 2003 to HK$25.3 million by year end of 2004 representing
slight overall improvement in operations. However, with the
allowances of HK$84.6 million and the impairment loss of
HK$14.9 million, the total losses come to HK$130.3 million,
compared to losses of HK$33 million at year end in 2003. The
Board of Directors of the Company (the “Directors” or “Board”)
do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2004.

The increase in turnover was mainly derived from the continuous
increase in sales of digital cinema servers and associated digital
cinema equipment following the successful commercialization of
these products last year. Although the potential of the computer
graphics side of the Group’s business continues to show good
promise, revenues have not increased much from 2003, due to
the later than expected launch of the Film Thru the Moebius
Strip in the American Film Market, in 2004. The Group however
expects the Film to be released in 2005. The Group expects to
enter into various services contracts in 2004 and therefore expect
a higher turnover for the computer graphics side of the business
in 2005.

During the year under review, allowances of approximately
HK$84.6 million were made for the Group’s production work in
progress which comprised mainly costs incurred for the film of
Thru the Moebius Strip (the “Film"”) and a TV series Panshel’s
World (the "TV series”). Whilst the directors consider that the
prospects for full recovery of the investment in the Film remain

good, they consider that the most reasonable way forward is to
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recognise only such part of the investment as is reflected by
contracts already signed and revenues which they expect can be
recognised in the accounts within the next twelve months. In
relation to Panshel, in view of the litigation now underway in
France, the directors consider at this stage to provide for the
entire amount of HK$14.6 million of the production work in
progress. The directors remain hopeful that there will be a
resolution of the disputes between GDC and the French co-
producers and work will be proceed to fully exploit the economic
value of the television series. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of property, plant and equipment of HK$14.9 million
due to a disfurnishment notice issued by the PRC government to
the landlord of the Group’s premises in Shenzhen represent loss
of the unamortised portion of the cost of fitting out the premises
for which the Group has a valid lease to 2010. Discussions are
underway for compensation from the landlord. Discussions are
also underway with the Shenzhen Municipal Government, which
has recognised the Group’s Shenzhen Studios as an advanced
technology business, for subsidies and free or low rental premises
for the move. The directors do not expect that the operations of
the studio will be adversely affected by the move.

Following the initial marketing of the film in 2004 when the first
cut was completed, various market feedback have been
incorporated in an enhanced version of the Film.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Turnover generated from the digital content distribution and
exhibition business which comprised sales revenue of D-cinema
products, rental income from equipment leasing, and franchise
fee from digital cinema amounted to approximately HK$42.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2004 (2003: HK$8.9
million), representing an increase of approximately 382% and
represented approximately 89% of the Group’s turnover during
the year under review. The increase was largely due to the
finalization of sale contracts the successful commercialization of
these products with mainly customers in the PRC and Europe,
which negotiation were initiated following the successful
commercialization of these products in 2003.

The Group continued to record revenue from the CG training
courses in Shenzhen and Shanghai, the PRC which are operating
in cooperation with Shenzhen University and University of
Shanghai for Science and Technology respectively. Turnover from
CG training increased by approximately 96% to approximately
HK$5.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2004 (2003:
HK$2.6 million), represented approximately 11% of the Group’s
turnover during the year under review. The increase was mainly
attributable to the expansion of the Group’s CG training centre
in Shanghai in terms of the number of students served and

courses offered during the year under review

The Film is due for release in the second half 2005 and it is
expected that the Group will begin to be able to recognise income
from release of the Film in 2005. With the quality of the Group’s
CGl production being recognised through the Film, the Group is
undertaking discussions with many parties on jobs for hire and
co-productions. Two co-production agreements contingent on
confirmation of financing by the other contracting party have

been signed.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group had bank balances and cash and pledged bank
deposits of approximately HK$5.6 million as at 31 December
2004 (2003: HK$21.9 million) which were mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The decrease was mainly

utilized in funding the current year’s loss making operations.

The Group's borrowings amounted to approximately HK$88.6
million as at 31 December 2004 which comprised approximately
HK$68.2 million and HK$20.4 million repayable within one year
and repayable more than one year as at 31 December 2004
respectively. There was no gearing ratio (calculated as bank and
other borrowings less bank balances and cash and pledged bank
deposits divided by shareholders’ fund) presented as the Group
recorded capital deficiency as at 31 December 2004 (2003: 58%).

Transactions of the Group were mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars. In view of the
stability of the exchange rate of those currencies, no hedging
for the foreign currency transaction had been carried out during

the year under review.

Use of placement proceeds

On 14 May 2004, the Company allotted and issued 20,820,000
new shares of the Company to independent third parties through
the placing at HK$0.42 per share for a cash consideration of
HK$8.7 million pursuant to the placing and subscription
agreement entered into by the Company on 3 May 2004. The
net proceeds of HK$8.3 million have been fully applied for general

working capital of the Group as originally intended.
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Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2004, pledged bank deposits, trade
receivables and computer equipment and motor vehicles with
carrying value of approximately HK$2 million, HK$2.5 million
and HK$5.1 million respectively and the Group's entire interests
in the registered capital of IDMT (Shenzhen) Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group, were pledged to certain financial
institutions to secured certain financing facilities granted to the
Group

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2004, the Group recorded capital deficiency
of approximately HK$53.6 million which was mainly financed by
internal resources, bank and other borrowings. The capital
deficiency was mainly arisen from the loss of approximately

HK$130.3 million incurred during the year under review.

Contingent liabilities

The Company has given guarantees to banks and other parties
in respect of general facilities granted to its subsidiaries. The
extent of such facilities utilised by the subsidiaries at 31 December
2004 amounted to approximately HK$38.1 million (2003:
HK$36.1 million).

Litigation

On 14 May 2003, GDC Entertainment Limited (“GDC
Entertainment”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a co-production agreement (the “Co-production
Agreement”) with West Audiovisual and Multimedia Consultants,
Inc. ("WAMC") and Production and Partners Multimedia, SAS
("PPM"), in which the Group has a 25% equity interest, in
relation to an animated television series.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #

2
. J MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEER

RZZETWFE+_A=+—8  DEPENT
R RERESES  ERIZERASELE
B 51492,000,000% 7T * 2,500,000/ T &
5,100,000 70 © A RASEBERIRIKRETEE B
BECRIDBERAR (AEBz22EHRB A
E)aAMRAP 22 BEREGEEFRE TH
B ERASEMERETREREZ
RE o

IR A4

RZZETWEF_A=+—H  FEBEEEF
B A EAI4953,600,0008 70 © £ B2RAAE
BR HROREMEBERNTES - EXNEH
TEDEAREBFEAMSI B ZEBEED
130,300,000/8 JLET B °

RAEE
KRBIGEMBARER T2 —REEAER
TREMATELHER ZERBRAARZ
ZTNFEF+_A=+—HBHEHAZEEEYD
% 38,100,000 T (Z 2 T = &
36,100,000/ 7T) °

'um_m(

ok

>

=t

NRZZEZE=FHATMHB  ARARZ2EMN
J& 2 81GDC Entertainment Limited ([ GDC
Entertainment] ) B West Audiovisual and
Multimedia Consultants, Inc. ([WAMC]) &
Production and Partners Multimedia, SAS
([PPM]) (REEHEH2S%RE) R —EE
BHEEERMA LA EHE([EER

%)) -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSISBEB EBH#® R 2 o

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEEEN@® RN

In November 2004, PPM issued a summons for summary judgment
against WAMC and GDC Entertainment in the Court of
Commerce of Angouleme (France), seeking the appointment of

an agent who would oversee the co-production.

A hearing was scheduled to take place on 11 January 2005.
However, at that time, PPM modified its claims against GDC
Entertainment by seeking to substitute a new producer of the
“same nationality” in replacement of GDC Entertainment
pursuant to the Co-production Agreement, or the appointment
of an expert whose task would be basically to assess the parties

respective liabilities.

On 13 January 2005, the Group was informed by its French legal
advisers that PPM’s new claims do not affect accrued rights, as
even if the Group were substituted, the monies invested by the
Group are recoverable as an account payable under the co-

production.

However, on 14 February 2005, PPM further modified its claims
which include, inter-alia (i) the enforcement of an article of the
Co-production Agreement which provides that in case of
substitution of a producer to another one, the monies already
invested by the Group shall become an account payable,
recoverable from the revenues of the co-production, however,
only “in last position with the recovery by the other co-producers
of their contribution”, and (ii) that the Group be sentenced to
pay PPM the provisional amount of Euro 5 million, as damages,
this amount being subject to revision according to the findings
of the expert to be appointed by the Court. The claim for

damages is totally unparticularised.
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On 10 March 2005, the Group’s French legal adviser advised
that the chances to recoup the totality of the investment are
uncertain and in any event, the sums owed to GDC Entertainment
will be recoupable only in the last position pursuant to the Co-

production Agreement.

On 15 March 2005, the French legal adviser advised that the
claims by PPM for the aforesaid provisional amount of Euro 5
million, as damages, is out of touch with reality given that (i)
PPM does not provide any explanation or detail computation for
the claims of Euro 5 million (ii) the amount is more or less
equals to the total budgeted costs under the Co-production
Agreement and (iii) the claim is still subject to the summary
judgment to be rendered. The French legal adviser further advised
that in any event, the summary judgment to be rendered shall
be very difficult to enforce or even may not be enforceable.
Based on the abovementioned legal advice, the Board considers
that the claims of Euro 5 million as damages should not have
any immediate effect on the Group and no provision for this
amount is considered necessary. Consideration is also being given
by the directors to launch a counterclaim against PPM in the
Hong Kong courts. The Group’s Hong Kong legal adviser advised
that the Group have good and meritorious causes of action
against PPM and the Hong Kong Courts constitute a proper
forum for the counterclaim.

Employees

As at 31 December 2004, the Group employed 339 (2003: 335)
full time employees. The Group remunerated its employees mainly
with reference to the prevailing market practice, individual
performance and experience. Other benefits such as medical
coverage, insurance plan, mandatory provident fund, discretionary
bonus and employee share option scheme are also available to

employee of the Group.
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Business Objectives from 1 January
2003 to 31 December 2003 as stated

in the Prospectus (only limited to those
which have not been fulfilled in full as
stated in the annual report of the
Company for the financial year ended
31 December 2003)

HBUBRERFAA -—ZTET=F—-8—
EE-FE=F+C HE-I- Ak Z%i%
BER(ERREADAER T=F

+TZRA=1T-BLUBFE Ziiﬁw
itz S REMEKE)

1. Complete Thru the Moebius Strip
production and premiere.
SR Thru the Moebius StripB eI &
IRHEH -

2. Sign up a US distributor for Thru the
Moebius Strip.
St Thru the Moebius Strip 1 2 Bl — %%
TRRIEH -

BEKEE

b o

Actual Business Progress

1.

2.

The production of Thru the Moebius
Strip was completed in May 2004 and
was officially launched in the Cannes
Film Festival in the same month.

Thru the Moebius Strip 2 E1EE K
—ETMFERAERL R E A E R
BYHLEAMEL -

GDC entered into a sales agency
agreement (which was terminated in
the second half of 2004) with Senator
International Inc.
distribution of Thru the Moebius Strip
in the US. GDC also received offers
for distribution of Thru the Moebius
Strip in the US.

IR Bk 815 &2 Senator International
Inc.BtTEE B Z 1T Thru the Moebius
StripMal L —HHEREBHRE (ER
“ETWETHFRIE) o BIEIS
MU Rl B X B % 1T Thru the
Moebius StripZ % °

in respect of the

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited -
B R 88 ® A B 2 R £ B 2 7
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Business Objectives from 1 January
2003 to 31 December 2003 as stated

in the Prospectus (only limited to those
which have not been fulfilled in full as
stated in the annual report of the
Company for the financial year ended
31 December 2003)

HBUBRERFAA -—ZTET=F—-8—
EE-FE=F+C HE-I- Ak Z%i%
BER(ERREADAER T=F

+TZRA=1T-BLUBFE Ziiﬁlﬁ
PRtz s REEERE)

3. Pre-sell Thru the Moebius Strip to markets
other than the US.
M E B Sz W
Moebius Strip °

% 78 & Thru the

4. Set up a merchandising arm and begin
licensing of merchandise in the PRC
market and other target markets.

KRB mEER  THBEPERHEA
BEMSHEERMZ ERE -

5. Begin development of prototype of Thru
the Moebius Strip and Sandman console

games in the US with Equinoxe.

f 8 B Equinoxed YETE X B 7 & Thru
the Moebius Strip & Sandman® 1% i &

Z HR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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EBEELE

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS
EREKEE LR

Actual Business Progress

5.

GDC pre-sold Thru the Moebius Strip
to 7 markets other than the US. GDC
also received offers from distributors
from the rest of the world.

RIS mEE LA 2 7{E T35 78
& Thru the Moebius Strip ° BRI &
WK Z7TET S ETE L ES -

GDC set up a merchandising arm and
started to license its products in PRC
and other target markets in 2004.
RYEBER _SZEWNFN YA m i
EH YRR EPBEKEMEB RTS
WEHEBE M ENE -

GDC commenced the development of
Thru the Moebius Strip game in house
with other partners including Gameone
Online Entertainment Group Limited
("Gameone").
RHEBCRMEERMEERN (8
& Gameone Online Entertainment
Group Limited ([ Gameone])) # A
7 % Thru the Moebius Stripi# & °
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH

BEBEELR o

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

EBEBREREREHFEEL & 4

Business Objectives from 1 January
2003 to 31 December 2003 as stated

in the Prospectus (only limited to those
which have not been fulfilled in full as
stated in the annual report of the
Company for the financial year ended
31 December 2003)
H B R &ﬁﬂm
BE-Z
EF(EW?E$ AEE
tZA=+—-BLBEFE
Rtz EREEERE)

i

z&%m

6. Publish the first issue of CG, games and
digital cinema print and e-magazine.
R EBEKE G - B - BIEEKT
IR EF R 2 8T -

7. Finalise the appointment of Overseas
Chinese Town as merchandising agent of
GDC in the PRC.
REZRTERUARREBETEZA
migERIE o

8. Begin pre-production of sequel to Thru
the Moebius Strip.
B %A Thru the Moebius Strip#E &
HASUE -

Z Bl

Actual Business Progress

BERXBEE

7.

8.

Instead of publishing the print version
of CG, games and e-magazine, GDC
started an online forum in relation to
GDC
published three textbooks relating CG
in PRC.
BRREGERELREME K - &
B BUSAEMITE REFHS 2R
Ao MAKGKELEEZEART 2@ L
IE e PhAN - IRBREIS B R B R
CEEAEHBERZHM -

these topics. In addition,

Overseas Chinese Town was appointed
as the merchandising agent of GDC in
PRC.
EEWOELZERRREBERE
BmEHERE -

Not yet begun.
ENEE

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
B B ¥ B & B £ R F R 24 7
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Mﬂd “  COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
[N ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS
¥ K EERBEBEREE LB

Business Objectives from 1 January Actual Business Progress
2003 to 31 December 2003 as stated EREKEE

in the Prospectus (only limited to those
which have not been fulfilled in full as
stated in the annual report of the
Company for the financial year ended
31 December 2003)
BMBRERMALE = EEEE H—H
EEZZTET= $+ HE S

Frit 2 I"] KEE Eﬁk %)

9. Begin first comic strip based on Thru the 9. Not yet begun.
Moebius Strip. ENEE
FI 1A & 2B LA Thru the Moebius Strip5

EXZEE -

10. Begin development of next online game  10. GDC set up a joint venture with

and localization of Korean and Japanese Gameone to develop its next online
games. game to be released in the third
FMisHAEEMmBE LEE YEERRA quarter of 2005.

B LR A - IRIKES B B Gameonef[R L& & A

A AREEHE LB YRR
ZERFFFERLZEER °

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 £



COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS
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CG creation and

production

EREGAERRE

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS ¥ #% B 2 & &

Business Objectives from 1 January
2004 to 30 June 2004 as stated
in the Prospectus

5% 20 38 %
BEZ

ERAR-—ZTENFE-/F—H
EEMFERNAZTHELEZEHBER

Launch localized Korean and Japanese on-
line games in Greater China market.
FERPEMRTISHED Rz ER R
B EHER -

Complete development of Thru the
Moebius Strip and Sandman console
games for publisher.

B RE KR % Thru the Moebius
Strip & Sandman® 1R #£ & o

Begin development of next prototypes.

FIaFMELMB LB Z IR -

Market DVDs for Thru the Moebius Strip.
#E i Thru the Moebius StripZ DVDAR °

Complete The New Adventures of
Raggedy Ann & Andy series and begin
work on next series.

=k The New Adventures of Raggedy
Ann & AndyZ 5|3t 5 16 51 & 2 1 A 5
Eme

Begin production of sequel of Thru the
Moebius Strip.

B 46 B EThru the Moebius StripZ &

£ o

BEKEE

b o

Actual Business Progress

5.

Not yet launched.

GDC commenced the development of
Thru the Moebius Strip game in house
with other

partners including

Gameone.
RIEYECHBEEMAERER (B
& Gameone) #£ [ % Thru the
Moebius Strip## & °

GDC commenced the development of
a new online game with Gameone.
IRBRENTS £ 518 B2 Gameone 2 [A] 7 2%
2H@EER -

Not yet begun.
ENEE K

WAWC did not have the rights of this
series and therefore GDC decided not
to pursue on development of this
series.

WAWC I % B 7 251 22 an 2 Wi 4
At BREBEAEREREARR
BB mn e

In progress.

#1758 -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited -
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

Business Objectives from 1 January

2004 to 30 June 2004 as stated

in the Prospectus
HUBEREEMABA-—ZEZENF—-A—H
BE_ZTNFAA=ZTAHLZEKBE

EHBEBREEBEBREBTEE LR

Actual Business Progress

Digital content 1. Further supply digital cinema equipment 1. As Mukta Adlabs Digital Exhibition
distribution and to Adlabs. Limited (“Adlabs”) did not meet the
exhibitions #— A mAdlabsHt EHE R EE - target of installing 400 servers for the
HBEARBRTRER year ended 31 December 2004, Adlabs

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 £

temporarily stopped placing order of
new servers from GDC Technology in
2004 until the completion of the
upgrade of digital projector from a
single chip to a 3-chip DLP projector.
GDC Technology continues its
discussion with Adlabs in relation to
the supply of new servers.

M A Mukta Adlabs Digital Exhibition
Limited ([Adlabs]) 88 Z Z T T W F
TZA=+T—BLEFEIREINLE
4005 R ke 2 B 1R - M AdlabsE %
—“EZT M EEEREEGDC
Technologyz 2#1 AR - EEHE
R P B TR % BT R = & R DLPHK
B =X A& IE - GDC Technologyi#
EEME R AR A abs#ETT
EEN

On the other hand, GDC Technology
expanded its market share in India by
retrofitting 5 cinemas in Southern India
with GDC Technology’s digital servers
in 2004.

SE—hE R_TEOEF - GDC
Technology® # A GDC Technology
ZHERREBLNDEED 25K
BYRBH  EMEATHERNED
BZEREE -
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS
B EBREEBEBREBTEE LR

Business Objectives from 1 January
2004 to 30 June 2004 as stated
in the Prospectus

BUOBRERMIBE_-—FTZENF-A—H

BEZ

ZREMEAAZTRHLEZERBER

Continue with research and development
for interactive digital cinema.

BEMBEIEAHBY

Sign up around 80 digital cinemas in the

PRC and the rest of Asia, such as

Singapore and Hong Konag.

BB RN AR R A
HAOBORBBEREZTAL °

Actual Business Progress

Ongoing.
HBEET -

The launch of further D-cinemas under
the franchise model is currently
delayed due to lack of fund. As of 1
March 2005, China Film Group has
retrofitted more than 160 digital
cinemas and is inviting third party to
participate in its D-cinema franchise.
One of our competitors, EVS, spun-out
XDC and raised £9 million in the fourth
quarter of 2004 to deploy the
European digital cinema network.
Similar to GDC’s IPO plan, XDC aims
to digitise 500 cinema screens over the
next two years. At the same time, XDC
plans to enter into Asian and American
markets through its subsidiary XDC Inc.
HREZHRZ fﬁakﬂ*ﬁﬁﬂﬂnﬁ
KERABHEMEBZR - RN =
ZEERF=A—H " EPIE%%@%H
1605 XEBH B ET T8I - L IE
REBE=ZF2EAYB Y REFTL
2 RIRBWBBEFEZ —EVSIHT
XDCR_ZZHWFENFTEER
9,000,000% 8% + LA 20 E BUM B85 &
Priig - MIRIRHMB L ERAHABRK
FHEI L XDCEHEI R R KM F
500X ik B ERHBL - AE
XDCxt &35 38 K i B 2 FIXDC Inc. %A
BERMEREETS -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

Provision of CG
training courses

REEREGZIRE

CG creation and
production

EREGAERRE

X% HBREE R

Business Objectives from 1 January

2004 to 30 June 2004 as stated

in the Prospectus

BONBREERMALBH _—_ZZTNF-A—H
BEZZEENGFAA=ZTHLEZEKEBEEZ

1. Continue to run the CG training courses
in Shenzhen and Shanghai, the PRC.
BETHBERINE LBRAMEKE GRS
FIERAZ °

Business Objectives from 1 July 2004

to 31 December 2004 as stated

in the Prospectus
HUBEREERMAA-_ZEZNF LA —A
EEZ2ENF+ZA=+—-HL
ZEBBERE

1. Complete production of first part of
sequel to Thru the Moebius Strip.
T EEThru the Moebius Stripi& &
Bl z BiEREB 1 -

2. Launch further on-line games in Greater
China market.

HEARFREME TS HEL LS EEE -

3. Begin pre-production of next film.

RIa 2 ER A MEBHE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #

EBEE LR

Actual Business Progress

BERXBEE

1. GDC continued to run the CG training

courses in Shenzhen and Shanghai.
RIREBEEE R LEHNE K
B & AR A2 o

Actual Business Progress

ERXBEE

1. In progress.

HEATH o

2. Not yet launched.

R R e

3. Not yet begun.

R R F G



COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

EBEREEREREE LR

Digital content
distribution and
exhibitions
EBERAETRER

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH ACTUAL BUSINESSPROGRESS ¥ K A ZHER (B EELEH o

Business Objectives from 1 July 2004

to 31 December 2004 as stated

in the Prospectus
HUBEREEMABA-ZEZNF LA —H
BEZZTMF+ZA=+—-HL
ZEBBER

1. Further supply digital cinema equipment
to Adlabs.
i — A Adlabs i fE 85 2B R 1B

Actual Business Progress

1.

As Adlabs did not meet the target of
installing 400 servers for the year
ended 31 December 2004, Adlabs
temporarily stopped placing order of
new servers from GDC in 2004 until
the completion of upgrade of digital
projector from a single chip to a 3-
chip DLP projector. To date, GDC
Technology continues its discussion
with Adlabs in relation to the supply
of new servers.
HRAdabsEB Z_ZETNE+ A=
T—BLEFEAERETZEAL004 A
fRzs 2 B 12 - thAdlabsE R =TT
FEEBERRBEB 228 A Rs
BEEHERRHERAMEENR=S
FrOLPIRER#SER A 1E B AT © GDC
Technology# 48 5t it & 2 7 7] i 25 2
AdlabsiE 1T & °

On the other hand, GDC Technology
expanded its market share in India by
retrofitting 5 cinemas in Southern India
with GDC Technology’s digital servers
in 2004.

S—HE G R_ZEZEWF  RIRHEG
R A B GDC TechnologyZ #1156
fAREFELNDNEEBZSRKET
B HMEBATHERDEZHIE
BX-

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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Business Objectives from 1 July 2004

to 31 December 2004 as stated

in the Prospectus
HUBEREEMABA-ZEZNF LA —H
BEZZTMF+ZA=+—-HL
ZEBBER

2. Sign up further digital cinemas to reach a
total of around 150 in the PRC and
around 100 in rest of Asia, such as
Singapore and Hong Kong.
HEMBBYREZFSHN  LEBRF
Bl 491505 K g0 M H 4 3 [& 40 %7 AN 3% I
BRELI100XBBZ AR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 £

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS
EBEREEREREE LR

Actual Business Progress

BERXBEE

The launch of further D-cinemas under
the franchise model is currently
delayed due to lack of fund. As of 1
March 2005, China Film Group has
retrofitted more than 160 digital
cinemas and is inviting third party to
participate in its D-cinema franchise.
One of our competitors, EVS, spun-out
XDC and raised £9 million in the fourth
quarter of 2004 to deploy the
European digital cinema network.
Similar to GDC’s IPO plan, XDC aims
to digitise 500 cinema screens over the
next two years. At the same time, XDC
plans to enter into Asian and American
markets through its subsidiary XDC Inc.
HREERZ  RETEA BRI
RERABHEMEGHER - R=F
ERFEF=A—H HEEZEEH
160 XYW ET TR - WIE
REBE=ZF2EAYB Y REFFL
o R BEFEZ —EVSIET
XDCR—_ZZTMEEMETEES
9,000,000% 8% + LA 02 BUM B85 &
Priig - MIRIRHMB L ERAHABRK
HEI L XDCEHEI R R KM F
500X ik B ERHEL - AE
XDCxt &35 38 K i B 2 fIXDC Inc. %A
BEMEEETS -
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Provision of CG
training courses

RUESKEBZIRE

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH ACTUAL BUSINESSPROGRESS ¥ K A ZHER (B EELEH o

Business Objectives from 1 July 2004
to 31 December 2004 as stated
in the Prospectus

BUOBRERFMIBE_-—FTZENF LA —H

BEZZTMF+ZA=+—-HL
ZEBBER
3. Continue with research and development

of the evolving digital cinema technology
and specification (including interactive
digital cinema and network-based
entertainment system).
EEREARBBEHRUEARLER (B
REPAUBEZ R UBERRERSR) -

Commence the 5th CG training course in
Shenzhen, the PRC and the 2nd CG
training course in Shanghai, the PRC.

e BRI B 4R 55 1 BB B B R R I AR
BhkETFEELERRE _HEKBEGSE
FJIERIE -

Actual Business Progress

BERXBEE

3. Ongoing.
BEETT -

1. GDC commenced the 5th CG training
course in Shenzhen, the PRC and the
2nd CG training course in Shanghai.
RREBEEPERIIFRELNE
EEEBIRERERE LBRKBE
“HEMERBIRE -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited -
B R 88 ® A B 2 R £ B 2 7
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&% USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S

(Y

‘" INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

RRABEXRLPHEABRMASERERZE

The Directors had explained the reasons for the changes in the
application of the net proceeds raised from the listing of the
Shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange in August 2003 (the “IPO
Proceeds”) and in the “Statement of business objectives” in an
announcement made by the Company dated 19 August 2004
and the Directors would like to set out below the reasons, as
required by the GEM Listing Rules.

The net amount of IPO Proceeds, after deduction of related
commission and expenses, amounted to approximately HK$53.3
million. A comparison of the proposed usage of IPO Proceeds
made in the Prospectus against the actual usage for the year
ended 31 December 2004 is set out as follows.

EXZHEARAR-_ZETMFENATLBEEER
2R HFAREBEARTAE_TT=FN
AEBIMAEIER ETARFBEERNDAE
FBR(ERDEBRAF/REA]D) FEAER
(XBERREI2RA - EFRAFZRLED
RAZAEETXHIBERBRRA -

BRARBR2AEFREIFEHREER:
M &M%) #3%53,300,000/8 7T ° SR BK
ERANZERA CHBRABHIEZEZZRSE
HEE-_TENF+ A=+ HUILEEZ
ERBEHINET :

Actual usage up
to 31 December

Application of proceeds Proposed usage 2004 Difference
BEEZE_ZTMF
+tZA=+—H1t
[& A P15 k18 BEAR ZERR® ]
HK$ mil HK$ mil HK$ mil
BEEBT BEBT BEEBT
Strengthening management Eg ERRME R
and international B B2 i1 35
marketing team #EB 4.9 4.6 (0.3)
Developing digital F 2 BUIE 7 B
cinema distribution BITHE
network 18.5 4.0 (14.5)
Research and development o 7t K A B
of digital cinema HIEF
technologies Bl 7.2 8.3 1.1
Production maintenance HEZER
and co-financing BaHE 5.6 31.8 26.2
Working capital E2BE® 2.5 4.6 2.1
Total A 38.7 53.3 14.6

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 £
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING
AN aElBERXRDRMERFMR

Reasons for the decreased usage of IPO Proceeds in

developing digital cinema distribution network

Since the publication of the Prospectus, the Group experienced
certain changes in the market conditions brought about by
technological advancement in the D-cinema marketplace. As
stated in the section headed “Statement of business objectives”
in the Prospectus, the Group had, under the franchise business
model, originally targeted the signing up to around 50 and 25
cinemas in the PRC and the rest of Asia respectively for the
supply of digital projection and playback equipment by the end
of 31 December 2004. The decrease in the amount spent on
developing digital cinema distribution network was due to the
Group's delay in the implementation of the franchise business
model for D-cinemas in the PRC and the rest of Asia for the
reasons set forth below.

The franchise model for D-cinema was based on the use of
projectors which carry the technical standard approved by the
Hollywood major film distributors. The digital distribution of major
films, however, did not accelerate as anticipated but instead,
the Digital Cinema Initiative (“DCI") decided in the third quarter
of 2003, to raise the bar of D-cinema standard to a resolution of
2K (which requires a projector at the resolution of 1,080 x 2,048
lines). Although the Group’s product has already been upgraded
to the 2K resolution standard in the third quarter of 2003,
projector manufacturers of 2K digital light processor ("DLP")
Cinema™ projectors (which is a component in the Group’s
product, DSR™ servers), could only produce small quantities of
the 2K DLP Cinema™ projectors with resolution standard of late

last year.

The Group had consequently concentrated its efforts in the sales
of its products to India, which does not require such high
resolution standard, and the rest of the world rather than waiting
for the 2K projectors to become available. For the above reason,
the targets as stated in the sector headed “statement of business

objectives” of the Prospectus had to be delayed.

B REHRE

BOERBERAABRAGIANREREE
ThRETRAZZRE

BREABRERTBNAR  AREEDS LH
WEGEMRESMEE—LRE - FNBR
BERAMEHBRBRMEI AR - AEEAEF
el VHERREE_TTNF L+
A=Z+t—BzZmaplERBEAEELHSORE
e AR MEMERBEYOSRXRERET A
o AHEEBRE KRG - BIERE
BT RBETRR s RBERDDEARE B H
BETFELRTMHEMMRETHEIEERHE
B RAHERTX -

HEER O FACEEBEROERRRRN
HEZEFETAMAT ZKMER - &
2 XZEFHBET  WRBLTEEM
B i ' Digital Cinema Initiative ([DCIJ)
EZZE=-FE-"ZERERAEHBZ R
BHIREZ2KREE (RUBREEEASR
1,080 x 2,0481T) » Mt AEBzEmE—
TEE=-FE-FEERAZ2KEBREZEZ
&R 2K BB E L EE RS ([HEE K
FRIEgE]) Cinema™ B (Wt I A S B E M
—DSRMIRB R G M) i alEn - R
HEREVEREFREEZREGEZEZ2KK
5 & L BR IR 28 Cinema™ % A #4 o

AEBRETIBE/F2KEBTK ST HE
MEELTFESREREENENER SR
EHEGHE - ERNLAER BRERIE
HBREEREIFFE BRI EILEY -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited “
B B ® B # ¥ 2 R 8 B 2 7
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Reasons for increased usage of IPO Proceeds in production

maintenance and co-financing

At the time of the IPO, the Directors expected that pre-sale
contracts for certain countries/territories in respect of the
distribution rights of the Film would have been concluded and
completed by 31 December 2003, bringing pre-sale proceeds to
finance the production. The increase in the spending on
production maintenance and co-financing was due to the delay
in the completion of the Film. The marketing and screening of
the Film had to be delayed as a result of the delay in its
completion, which had consequently affected the timing for the
pre-sale of the Film. As set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 19 August 2004, the Directors reported that all
the production work of the Film had been completed, and

intensive marketing of the Film was taking place in the US.

Since the pre-sale revenue of the Film did not materialise in late
2004, the Company had additional cash resources from IPO
proceeds (which would have been substantially financed from
the pre-sale proceeds of the Film), to inter-alia, carry out the

abovementioned work required for the completion of the Film.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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1 y USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING
ARRPABBERXRL2HEABERFAGREAE

BNERERAAHBRMEREARREIE
EBAaHEZRE

EERLFRBERSAE EFERHPE_TT=
F+-A=1T—8§  ARREZET 2
TRUERER MR TaRTRESR I
BIEEMERBELEEZES - AIFREX
ERBAEHEZREEN  RHAREETK
BER  BREAZEBREREZT R TE
STRMALHY  BUAFEINZFH CBHE
e mMImARAR_FTTNFNATNLAH
RZRfofrit EEEWEZTR AR
EIEERK  MRFRZEEAEEER
TEETHEMAIME -

HRE_FTTNFREZFHFRABEEREKR
e AARBRERARBRABEHREAZ
BHIREER(REREREREZTH) A
E (R BHE - BEFRR) LAl TREZF
RE&EIE-



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report
and the audited financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2004.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to

the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2004
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 69.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 12 to the financial
statements.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last four financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements is set out on page 137. This summary

does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of movements in the share capital and reserves of the
Company and the Group during the year are set out in notes 28
and 30 to the financial statements and in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2004, the Company did not have reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the

provisions of The Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EZ & # % o

ESE WS

EZEMAZRARABE_TTENF+ -
AZ+-—RALFEZFRREELY B R
% o

FEXRH
ARRAE-MRERBRAR  AXBHER
Rz EBHRTBRRM 38 -

E
AEEBE-_TTNF+-_A=+t—HLHF
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted
for about 63.9% of its production costs and the largest supplier

accounted for about 22.8% of the total production costs.

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for about 74.2% of the turnover of the Group and
the largest customer accounted for about 39.1% of the total

turnover.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the directors own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has any interest

in the Group's five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Chen Zheng
(General Manager)

(appointed on 15 February 2005)

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh
(Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Richard Yin Yingneng (resigned on 24 June 2004)

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh
(Joint Chairman)

Mr. Cao Zhong (appointed on 16 February
(Joint Chairman) 2005)

Dr. David Deng Wei
(Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Stephen Scharf (re-designated from independent
non-executive director to non-
executive director on 1 April
2004 and resigned on 16

February 2005)
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Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung
Professor Japhet Sebastian Law
Mr. Paul Kwan Yuen Chiu (appointed on 25 September
2004)

Dato’ Mohd Ibrahim bin (appointed on 18 January
Mohd Zain 2004 and resigned on 10 June

2004)

Alternate directors:

Mr. Zhang Dong Sheng
(Alternative to
Dr. David Deng Wei)

Mr. Adrian Mak Yau Kee
(Alternative to
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh)

(appointed on 27 April 2004 and
resigned on 24 June 2004)

Pursuant to Clauses 86 and 87 of the Company’s Bye-Laws,
Messrs. Raymond Dennis Neoh, Cao Zhong, Chen Zheng and
Paul Kwan Yuen Chiu will retire at the Company’s forthcoming
Annual General Meeting (“AGM") and, except for Mr. Paul Kwan
Yuen Chiu, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In addition to the directors appointed to fill casual vacancies on
the Board during the year, one third of the directors shall retire

by rotation and shall, if eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors are subjected to retirement by rotation in the same
manner as the executive directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2004, the interests and short positions of
the directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap 571) ("SFO") as recorded in the register
maintained under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors as
referred to Rule 5.46 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM") of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the

“GEM Listing Rule”), were as follows:

(1) Long positions in shares of the Company

Number

Name of director of shares
BEEMA R &R
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh RERRE 124,974,230
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh REHERE 254,315,518
3,318,450

257,633,968

Dr. David Deng Wei HE®SL 20,579,090
200,000

20,779,090

Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung #7538 % & 200,000
Professor Japhet Sebastian Law 78 3 & # % 200,000
Mr. Stephen Scharf Stephen Scharf%t &£ 200,000
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RZEEWNE+_A=+—H BZEEHES
ZHMBATRAAGREERMBEEE (X
REBEALBEEN (BES71E) ([B5REE
B E+RED) 2kt - BERDREHFFR
BERBEEAFRBEGKRDE T HIPE3521K
GFEzERMAES oz AR  HIRE
EABATSHBMR AR ([BRZAT]) BIER
(TEIZMR]) BH LEMAA ([AIER EMmH
Bl]) B 46l6FMECEESEEREAMES
TAEERRRARBRMzERRABRDLT

(1) RERIARGPZHER

Approximate

Capacity percentage of interest
4 ERBENE DL
Beneficial owner 15.61%
ExlBA
Interest in controlled

corporations (note 1)
REGI AR (M)
Family interest (note 2)

RiciEsa (f1i2)

32.17%

Interest in a controlled
corporation (note 3)

XEEI DR (Hit3)

Beneficiary of a trust (note 4)
EaExmA (Hiz4)

2.59%

Beneficiary of a trust (note 5) 0.02%
EaXmA (HFs)
Beneficiary of a trust (note 6) 0.02%
ERZaA (Ko
Beneficiary of a trust (note 7) 0.02%
ERAZaA (HiE7)
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The 214,122,516 of these shares were held by Upflow
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI") with limited liability and wholly-
owned by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh. The remaining
balance of the 40,193,002 shares were held by Forward
Strategic Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Global Digital Creations Limited, which is in turn
owned as to approximately 32.4% by Upflow Holdings
Limited.

The 3,318,450 shares were held by Ms. Lau Fung Sim,
the spouse of Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh.

The 20,579,090 of these shares were held by Bright
Oceans Corporation (HK) Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and
owned as to 50% by Dr. David Deng Wei.

The 200,000 shares were held in a trust account opened
in the name of Mr. Adrian Mak Yau Kee in trust for Dr.
David Deng Wei.

The 200,000 shares were held in a trust account opened
in the name of Mr. Adrian Mak Yau Kee in trust for Mr.
Gordon Kwong Che Keung.

The 200,000 shares were held in a trust account opened
in the name of Mr. Adrian Mak Yau Kee in trust for
Professor Japhet Sebastian Law.

The 200,000 shares were held in a trust account opened
in the name of Mr. Adrian Mak Yau Kee in trust for Mr.
Stephen Scharf.
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EERAEB([ZRERELHES]) T
Mz BRAT RAREHERE
2EWA)FAE - £$40,193,002
g .~ @ B 15 B8 Global Digitial
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(2) Long positions in equity derivatives in, or in respect

of, underlying shares of the Company

Name of director

ERENA

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh

Number and
description

of equity
derivatives
BARLTETA
Z 8B Rt

32,201,692 options
granted under the
FS Scheme (note 8)

RERBEE RIBEFS stEIRE 2
32,201,69217 BE Ak 8
(Ktits)

Notes:

8. On 20 March 2003, the shareholders of Forward Strategic

Investments Limited, had by written resolution, adopted
a share option scheme (the “FS Scheme”) also dated 20
March 2003, wherein its board is entitled to grant
options to grantees such that they can purchase a total
of 61,015,197 shares of the Company from Forward
Strategic Investments Limited pursuant to the terms of
the FS Scheme. The exercise price for the 32,201,692
options is HK$1.00 per share which shall be exercised
on or before 19 March 2013.

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh has been granted options
under the FS Scheme, once exercised by him, entitle
him to subscribe for a total of 32,201,692 shares of the

Company.
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(2)

Number of
underlying
shares
27

I 1n 5 B

32,201,692

BRAMETAERADARERD F R

ZHR

Capacity

4%

Beneficial owner
(note 9)

Approximate
percentage
of interest
R
EliNd

4.02%

EmBEAA

(K1 7£9)

ff it

RZZTEE=ZF=ZA=-+H
Forward Strategic Investments
Limited 2 R 3R A & EORFE R 7 VIR
MRS ([FSEHEl]) (R
SEZEMTAR_TE=F=A=_
TH) Bt HEFEERMAA
BARHBRE  EARATRE
FS&T 2l {5 3 A Forward Strategic
Investments Limited& £ B E AR
A 61,015,197 2 & & o o
32,201,692 EREZITEERE
f1.0087T > TRAR-T—=F=
A+NABs AT -

RE 5w ERIEFSE 2 E KB R

o BTEZBRER  REER
BANAE 432,201,692 A AR
1’\0
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Short positions in equity derivatives in, or in respect

of, underlying shares

Number and

description

of equity

Name of director derivatives

RASTET R

EEME ZE B R

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh 40,193,002

(note 10)

REERAE (Ktati0)

Note:

10. Pursuant to the terms of the FS Scheme, the grantees

may purchase 61,015,197 shares according to its terms
and conditions. On 21 September 2004, nine of the
grantees under the FS Scheme had, in aggregate,
purchased 20,822,195 shares of the Company from
Forward Strategic Investments Limited, leaving a balance
of 40,193,002 shares of the Company available for
purchases by other grantees under the FS Scheme in
future. As Forward Strategic Investments Limited is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Global Digital Creations
Limited, which is in turn owned as to approximately
32.4% by Upflow Holdings Limited (which is wholly
owned by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh), Global Digital
Creations Limited, Upflow Holdings Limited and Mr.
Raymond Dennis Neoh are accordingly deemed to be
interested in the short positions taken by Forward

Strategic Investments Limited.

3)

Number of
underlying
shares
il

&1 8 B

40,193,002
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BRATETASEBEROG ISR 2XE

Approximate

percentage
Capacity of interest
LAY
g1 N
Interest in a controlled 5.02%
corporation (note 10)
g i /N v
‘ez (KfaE10)
B et -
10. IRIEFSFM &I Z &R - AR A RE
ZHEZEREREKEHEE

61,015,197 R ARG - RZFE
MEALA=Z+—H * AALFSETEI T
2 # & N B M Forward Strategic
Investments Limited& B E AR
§20,822, 195 A A&7 - H 8k
40,193,002 % 2 &) £ AT 41t A 1% K
fMFSEH B T ZEABRABE - R
Forward Strategic Investments
Limited & Global Digital Creations
Limitedz 2 &M & 2 & - Global
Digital Creations Limited Bl
Upflow Holdings Limited (2 &
EE2EBERBZRR)HEERR
32.4%% % o Hik - Global Digital
Creations Limited + Upflow
Holdings Limited X T 1 5t £ 19
W8 A W Forward Strategic
Investments LimitedFf # % & 7 %
B -
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Save as disclosed above and the options holding under
section headed “Share Options”, as at 31 December 2004,
none of the directors and the chief executive of the
Company nor their associates had any interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

SHARE OPTIONS
SOTAS Option

On 5 June 2003, the Company granted a share option to Sotas
Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability
and wholly-owned by Morningside CyberVentures Holdings
Limited, which is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of Verrall
Limited in its capacity as trustee of a family trust established by
Mrs. Chan Tan Ching Fen, who was taken to be interested in the
shares disclosed herein in her capacity as founder of the trust
(as defined in the SFO) referred to above upon the listing of the
shares on GEM, which entitles Sotas Limited to acquire 8,331,615
shares of the Company within 36 months from the date of listing
of the shares, at an aggregate exercise price of US$600,000.

No share option granted to Sotas Limited was exercised during

the year.

Share Option Scheme

The Company by shareholders’ resolution passed at its special
general meeting held on 18 July 2003, has adopted a share
option scheme (“Scheme”). The principal purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant options to eligible participants
as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the Group.
Details of the Scheme are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.
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RAFERN ARBEREZEHRED

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share

options during the year: T
Number and
description Number of Approximate
of equity underlying percentage
Name of director derivatives shares Capacity of interest %
BATTETAZ bk
ExHA B Kt B EE 515 -y =R d
Dr. David Deng Wei 8,000,000 options 8,000,000 Beneficial owner 1.00
under the Scheme (note 11)
HEET R B R EaEEA
8,000,00017 B A% 1 (Htatii)
Mr. Gordon Kwong 2,100,000 options 2,100,000 Beneficial owner 0.26
Che Keung under the Scheme (note 12)
e R B EmEA A
2,100,00017 B A% #& (Kzti2)
Professor Japhet 2,100,000 options 2,100,000 Beneficial owner 0.26
Sebastian Law under the Scheme (note 12)
B EEHE R AT B ER EalEEA
2,100,00017 B A% 1 (KFsE12)
Mr. Stephen Scharf 2,100,000 options 2,100,000 Beneficial owner 0.26

under the Scheme (note 12)
Stephen Scharf5t & Rz & ER EmBEBA
2,100,00017 B A% #& (Miizi12)

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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Notes:

11. Three tranches of 3,000,000, 3,000,000 and 2,000,000 options
shall be vested on the date of approval of the grant of option,
the first and the second anniversary dates of the approval,
respectively. The exercise price for each share is HK$0.44 which

shall be exercisable on or before 17 July 2013.

12. Three tranches of 700,000 options each shall be vested on the
date of approval of the grant of option, the first and the second
anniversary date of approval. The exercise price for each share is
HK$0.44 which shall be exercisable on or before 17 July 2013.

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before
21 June 2004, the date of grant of the options was HK$0.38.

The directors consider that it is not appropriate to disclose a
theoretical value of the share options granted during the year
since any valuation of the share options would be subject to a
number of assumptions which are subjective and uncertain.

As disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements, all the share
options granted to Sotas Limited and to the directors of the
Company under the Scheme outstanding as at 31 December

2004 have been cancelled subsequently.
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INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2004, so far as is known to the Directors,
the following, not being a director or chief executive of the
Company, have an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Division 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long positions in shares and in equity derivatives in, or in respect
of, underlying shares of the Company:
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ESE WS

s

Y|

BEZBSFRBERAETHEEZER
REERR
R_TTEMFE+_A=+—8 " BEEHMA
BTHEERFE FEARFAIZESHEELT
BAB)BEREESRBERAE+AILSE
2R3 D Z XM ABRAR R E 2 RG %
HEARGD 2 ERIKE -

BORBRAGTETIESBERGMI R 26
I

Number of
equity Number of
Name derivatives shares
B AR BT A4
Ea THEZHE 10 8B
Sotas Limited 8,331,615 55,544,102
Morningside CyberVentures 8,331,615 55,544,102
Holdings Limited
Verrall Limited 8,331,615 55,544,102
Mrs. Chan Tan Ching Fen 8,331,615 55,544,102
PREE S 2+
Upflow Holdings Limited 254,315,518
Forward Strategic Investments Limited 40,193,002
Global Digital Creations Limited 40,193,002

Capacity
g

Beneficial owner (note 1)
ExnmEBAN (Fa1)
Interest in a controlled
corporation (note 1)
XEHIAR R (FE)
Interest in a controlled
corporation (note 1)
Retlralc s (Kai)
Founder of a trust (note 1)
L2 BIA (Bat1)
Beneficial owner and interest
in a controlled corporation
(notes 2 & 3)
ERBEBARZESRQF
ZRm (MiF2Rk3)
Beneficial owner (note 2)
ExBAAN (Wit2)
Interest in controlled
corporation (note 2)

REHARZES (HiE2)

Approximate
percentage of
number of
shares to total
issued shares
BN EDL
6.94%

6.94%

6.94%

6.94%

31.76%

5.02%

5.02%

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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Of the 63,875,717 shares/equity derivatives, 55,544,102 shares
were held by Sotas Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI
with limited liability and wholly-owned by Morningside
CyberVentures Holdings Limited, which is in turn a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Verrall Limited in its capacity as trustee of a family
trust established by Mrs. Chan Tan Ching Fen, who was taken
to be interested in the shares disclosed herein in her capacity as
founder of the trust (as defined in the SFO) referred to above
upon the listing of the shares on GEM. On 5 June 2003, the
Company granted a share option to Sotas Limited which entitles
Sotas Limited to subscribe for 8,331,615 shares within 36 months
from the date of listing of the shares on GEM at an aggregate
exercise price of US$600,000 (equivalent to HK$4,680,000).

The 40,193,002 shares were held by Forward Strategic
Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Global Digital
Creations Limited, which is in turn owned as to approximately
32.4% by Upflow Holdings Limited, which is wholly-owned by

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh.

The 214,122,516 shares were held by Upflow Holdings Limited,

which is wholly owned by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh.
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Short positions in shares and equity derivatives in, or in

RO RRATE TAEREERD SR 2%

A

respect of, underlying shares of the Company: B
Number and
description Number of
of equity underlying
Name derivatives shares
BASTETAZ el
%1 28 Rk#fi Bt 2B
Forward Strategic Investments 40,193,002 40,193,002
Limited
Global Digital Creations 40,193,002 40,193,002
Limited (note)
(K3 &)
Upflow Holdings Limited 40,193,002 40,193,002
(note)
(Kt &)
Note: Pursuant to the terms of the FS Scheme, the grantees may K&t -

purchase the 61,015,197 Shares accounting to its terms and
conditions. On 21 September 2004, nine of the grantees under
the FS Scheme had in aggregate purchased 20,822,195 shares
of the Company from Forward Strategic Investment Limited,
leaving a balance of 40,193,002 shares available for purchases
by other grantees under the FS Scheme in future. As Forward
Strategic Investment Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Global Digital Creations Limited, which is in turn owned as to
approximately 32.4% by Upflow Holdings Limited, which is
wholly owned by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, Global Digital
Creations Limited, Upflow Holdings Limited and Mr. Raymond
Dennis Neoh are accordingly demand to be interested in the

short positions taken by Forward Strategic Investment Limited.

G
R

Approximate

percentage
Capacity of interest
515 EmnaBa ot
Beneficial owner 5.02%
EmBEE A
Interest in a controlled 5.02%

corporation

XEHAT S
Interest in a controlled 5.02%

corporation
SEHRE

RIBFSEH &l 2 B - AR ARIREZE
ZER GG EEZ%61,015197R A F
B R_ZTZEWNFAR=_+—H  Nfu
FSaT &1 N 2 % & A B M Forward Strategic
Limitedd # 8 B & 2 7
20,822,195 2 A KR fH - H & #
40,193,0020% 2~ &) Bt 0 A ¢ B 12 H A FS&T
BTz AKABE - B »® Forward
Strategic Investment Limited/ Global
Digital Creations Limitedz 2 & W B 2
&) + Global Digital Creations Limited 8|
Upflow Holdings Limited (R E# 428
WBEZDR) HAN3I2.4%Eam o Bt
Global Digital Creations Limited * Upflow
Holdings Limited & 22 7€ ff 5t & 19 # 4R AR
Forward Strategic Investment Limitedff

F AR R 3 -

Investment
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Apart from the foregoing and the related party transactions
referred to in note 37 to the financial statements, no contracts
of significance to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except for the share option scheme disclosed above, at no time
during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Exempt connected transactions

The following exempt connected transactions of financial

assistance in nature subsisted during the year.

Loans from Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh has advanced various loans to the
Group totalling approximately HK$18,237,000 as at 31 December
2004. Interest is accrued from day to day on the outstanding
principal amount of this facility at the best lending rate as quoted
by the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
from time to time plus 3% per annum. This facility is unsecured
with no fixed repayment terms. Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh has
confirmed that he will not seek repayment from the Group within
twelve months from 31 December 2004 or a date upon which
such repayment would not have material adverse effect on the
operation of the Group. Madam Chan Wing Yee, Betty, the
spouse of Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh, has advanced loan to the
Group totally HK$1,000,000 as at 31 December 2004. The loan
is unsecured, bears interest at the best lending rate as quoted
by the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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from time to time plus 3% per annum and is repayable on
demand. As Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh is the joint chairman of
the Company, a non-executive director and an initial management
shareholder, as defined under the GEM Listing Rules, a transaction
between Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh and the Group constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company. However, the transaction
is based on normal commercial terms (or better) and should
therefore be exempt from reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule
20.65(4) of the GEM Listing Rule.

Counter-guarantee given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh in respect
of bank loans made to the Group

As stated on pages 115 and 116 of this annual report, Mr.
Raymond Dennis Neoh has given counter-guarantee in favour of
RIEAERER AR ("CICG"), an independent third party,
for the repayment of all the debts incurred by CICG for which
CICG is liable under the guarantee given by it in respect of
banking facilities of RMB30,000,000 each from Bank of China,
Shenzhen Branch and Shenzhen Commercial Bank. No security
or consideration has been given by any member of the Group to
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh for the giving of the counter-guarantee
to CICG.

As Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh is a connected person of the
Company and the above-mentioned counter-guarantee given by
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh constitutes a connected transaction

of the Company.

The counter-guarantee given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh has
been provided by him for the benefit of the Company on normal
commercial terms (or better). The guarantee given should
therefore be exempt from reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule
20.65(4) of the GEM Listing Rule.
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The following exempt continuing connected transactions subsisted

during the year:

(a)

On 26 April 2002, GDC China Limited, an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
lease agreement with Ms. Lau Fung Sim, the spouse of
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, for the lease of a residential
premise as a Director quarter. The Group paid a monthly
rental of HK$28,000 to Ms. Lau Fung Sim for a period of
two years commencing from 7 May 2002 but the lease
agreement has been expired during the year.

The Group leased a staff quarter from Mr. Anthony Francis
Neoh for a term of one year commencing from 15 October
2001 at a monthly rental of HK$8,000. The lease
agreement was renewed on 2 October 2002 and 15
February 2004 with similar terms and the lease was
extended and expired on 15 October 2004.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have

reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed

that the above transactions have been entered into:

(1)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

on normal commercial terms; and

in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the

interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

As disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements, the following

transactions were entered into during the year:

(a)

The Group had rented an office premise in Singapore for
a month in January 2004 at a rental charge of $$1,929
from Solutions Lab Pte. Ltd., a related company of Cyber
Prime Developments Limited, a shareholder of the

Company.

This transaction does not fall within the definition of a
connected transaction because Cyber Prime Developments
Limited is neither a substantial shareholder nor a

management shareholder of the Company.

During the year, the Group paid or payable approximately
HK$430,000 (2003: HK$780,000), for legal and
professional services rendered by O'Melveny and Myers
LLP, a law firm in the United States of America. Mr.
Stephen Scharf, a non-executive Director of the Company,
is a partner of O'Melveny and Myers LLP.

This transaction falls within the definition of a connected
transaction but as the value of transaction falls below
the de-minimis threshold of the higher of (i) each of the
percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) is less than
0.1%; or (ii) each of the percentage ratio (other than the
profits ratio) is equal to or more than 0.1% but less than
2.5% and the total consideration is less than
HK$1,000,000, the transaction was exempt from all
reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements in accordance with GEM Listing Rule
20.31(2).
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sales or redemption by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2004.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Forward Strategic Investments Limited, a shareholder of the
Company interested in approximately 5.02% of the share capital,
held approximately 0.22% equity interest in DCDC Limited
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which in turn held
100% equity interest in Digital Content Development Corporation
Limited (“DCDC"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong, which
is principally engaged in CG production in Hong Kong. Forward
Strategic Investments Limited and its shareholders do not
participate in the management of DCDC. The board of Forward
Strategic Investments Limited comprising Mr. Raymond Dennis
Neoh, Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh and Dr. David Deng Wei who
are directors and initial management shareholders of the
Company, has confirmed that Forward Strategic Investments
Limited will remain a passive investor in DCDC. The directors
confirmed that there has not been and will not be any
transactions between the Group and DCDC.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, the chief executive,
substantial shareholders or initial management shareholders of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective
associates, has an interest in any business, which competes or
may compete with the business of the Group.
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INTEREST ON SPONSOR

As updated and notified by the Company’s sponsor (the
“Sponsor”), Goldbond Capital (Asia) Limited, as at 31 December
2004, none of the Sponsor itself, its directors, employees or
associates (as defined in Note 3 to GEM Listing Rule 6.35) had

any interests in the securities of the Company.

Pursuant to the agreement dated 23 July 2003 entered into
between the Company and the Sponsor, the Sponsor is entitled
to receive an advisory fee for acting as the Company’s retained
sponsor for the period from 4 August 2003 to 31 December
2005.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-Laws, or articles of association or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

BOARD PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES

The Company has complied with the GEM Listing Rules 5.34 to
5.45 concerning board practices and procedures throughout the

year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established for
the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls.

The audit committee, comprising two independent non-executive
directors and one non-executive director, met four times during
the financial year. During the meetings, the audit committee
reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, the interim and annual reports of the Group, connected
transactions and discussed with management the auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2004.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Details of significant events occurring after the balance sheet
date are set out in note 39 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

In March 2005, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned and
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu were appointed as auditors of
the Company to fill a casual vacancy.

A resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditors.

On behalf of the Board
ANTHONY FRANCIS NEOH
JOINT CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong
15 April 2005
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Deloitte.
=E)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GLOBAL DIGITAL CREATIONS
HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 69 to 136
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing
financial statements which give a true and fair view it is
fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected

and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on
our audit, on those financial statements and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of The
Companies Act of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of
Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in
the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the
Company and the Group, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.
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We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2004 and of the loss and cash flows of the Group for
the year then ended and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
15 April 2005
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2004 HE-TZTWNF+_-_A=+—HILFE

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT iR B &%k o

=
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5 B &

&

2004 2003
—ZEETNEF —TT=F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
[t 2% FET F&TT

Turnover EXE 5 47,987 11,478
Cost of sales 5B B AR (35,278) (8,428)
Allowances for production

work in progress TEBITE B B 18 (84,615) =
Gross (loss) profit (E8) EF (71,906) 3,050
Other operating income H fth 52 & A 101 814
Distribution costs ol = PN (4,246) (1,306)
Administrative expenses TR X (33,847) (30,603)
Impairment losses recognised in respect BRI E  BE K

of property, plant and equipment w2 REEE 12 (14,868) =
Loss from operations R E IR (124,766) (28,045)
Finance costs A& AR (5,545) (5,255)
Loss before income tax BRFT1S AT E 18 (130,311) (33,300)
Income tax (expense) credit FrEH (FAX) e 10 (25) 151
Net loss for the year NEEBEFE (130,336) (33,149)

HK cents HK cents
il 71

Loss per share FREE 11

Basic AR (16.43) (4.63)

Diluted e N/A RiE A N/A T35 A
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AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2004

& &

RoFEME+-A=+-A

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
g E

2004 2003
—ETNEF —ET=F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
ft & FTAT FHT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 12 14,000 35,984
Investment securities REZS 15 - -
Deferred tax assets ELERAEBE 16 151 151
14,151 36,135
Current assets RBEE
Inventories, at cost 78 (KA E) 17 5,523 3,564
Production work in progress fERIEH 18 21,301 75,666
Trade receivables EWE 5 R % 19 18,011 2,828
Prepayments, deposits and BAMRIE - EZe Rk
other receivables H i g Y AR TH 4,435 5,902
Amount due from a related party Y — & AT KIE 20 - 19
Pledged bank deposit BEMIBITER 26(b) 2,004 =
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRREE 3,635 21,889
54,909 109,868
Current liabilities nEaE
Training fees received in advance ER e = 2,168 2,255
Trade payables FEfT & 28R 5K 21 11,018 2,566
Other payables and accruals H e TR & A 20,798 11,204
Amounts due to directors e = =R 22 3,037 416
Amounts due to shareholders JE& 1< % SRR IR 22 2,147 =
Amounts due to related parties FETRIE AL 5UR 23 1,180 -
Tax liabilities MEEE 25 -
Loans from shareholders B E
— due within one year _——ERIAH 24 3,157 -
Obligations under finance leases AL A A R
— due within one year ——FREH 25 6,796 7,354
Bank borrowings — due within one year RITEE - —FANEH 26 31,907 14,143
Other loans Hiv B &R 27 19,940 7,797
102,173 45,735
Net current (liabilities) assets nE (BB EEFE (47,264) 64,133
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBER (33,113) 100,268
Non-current liabilities 3?%?1]1%15
Bank borrowings — due after one year RITEBEE - —FHEEH 26 - 14,143
Obligations under finance leases rﬂﬁ*ﬂ A
— due after one year —F1EE 25 2,211 6,147
Loans from shareholders — due after one year Hx?%m— —iffi ) A 24 18,237 11,536
20,448 31,826
(53,561) 68,442
Capital and reserves IR AR &
Share capital % A 28 8,008 7,800
Share premium and reserves W2 B & & (61,569) 60,642
(53,561) 68,442
The financial statements on pages 69 to 136 were approved FNFOE136B LU BMAEN_SFA
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 15 April FUATLEEESeHARKESZER X
2005 and are signed on its behalf by: BHNIALEE

ANTHONY FRANCIS NEOH
Director

RE

EZFE
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AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2004 R -_ZTZTWF+_-_A=+—8H

BALANCE SHEET S E&E X o

BALANCE SHEET
EERBE X

-
2004 2003
—ETMF —EET=F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M & FAET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RBRARZIEE 13 10,536 86,408
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and BRRE Eek
other receivables H b fE W AR IE 731 541
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR AR S 10,839
737 11,380
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accruals HMENKREREGER 1,992 581
Amounts due to directors JENEE A 22 1,833 =
Amounts due to shareholders JEE 1F P& 3R 3008 22 225 =
Loans from shareholders R E K
— due within one year ——FRNEH 24 3,157 =
Other loans HE X 27 11,143 =
18,350 581
Net current (liabilities) assets REBEEFE(BAEFH) (17,613) 10,799
(7,077) 97,207
Capital and reserves B R f#1E
Share capital [N 28 8,008 7,800
Share premium and reserves B9 0 (B K fé 30 (15,085) 89,407
(7,077) 97,207

ANTHONY FRANCIS NEOH
Director

2 E

EF

RAYMOND DENNIS NEOH

Director
=

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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e CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY %R & fE & # 8 &

P CONSOLDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
% B %

] == N\ 7
e E R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2004 #HE-ZTZWNFF+_A=+—HLLFE

Share Share
Share premium issuance  Contributed ~ Statutory ~ Exchange  Accumulated
capital account Costs surplus reserve reserve losses Total
& &7
k& BBR  BRRAKA  GARB  ARRE  EXRE  2HER A%
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
TR Thn T TR Thn TR ThERL Thn
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(Wita)  (Wtb) (M)
At 1 January 2003 RZEE=4£-7-H 400 - (4,465) 40,21 415 48 (31,242) 5427
Issue of shares to pre-listing REmaREE
investors ki 2 40,168 - - - - - 40,200
Issue of shares by placingand ~ FREERAREE
public offer L) 663 65,637 - - - - - 66,300
Capitalisation issue BREG 6,705 6,705) - - - _ _ _
Share issuance costs ERAHA - - (10,336) = = = = (10,336)
Transfer to share premium account E& R EER - (14,801) 14,801 = - = - =
Net loss for the year AEEEREFE - - - - - = (33,149) (33,149)
Transfer to statutory reserve EREATERE = - - - 123 - (123) -
At 31 December 2003 RZEZ=E+ZA=+-H 7800 84,299 - 40,211 538 48 (64,514) 68,442
Fichange differences on translation #8550 £ &£
of overseas operations not ERRNGREER
recognised in the consolidated AR
income statement EiER - - - - - (14) - (14)
Issue of shares by placing ERRERIRA 208 8,536 - - - - - 8,744
Share issuance costs BIRHKA - (397) - - - = = (397)
Net loss for the year AEEERFE - - - - - - (130336 (130,336)
Transfer to statutory reserve ERTATERR - - - - 142 - (142) =
At 31 December 2004 R-ZEMET-_A=1-H 8008 92,438 - 40,271 680 34 (19499)  (53560)

Notes: ff

(a) The share issuance costs were written off against the share (a) BIOIROKAEERRAROMNBEBEHS
premium account upon the listing of the Company’s shares on RSB RN A AR ETERRGD & E
the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong BR R ©
Kong Limited.

(b) The contributed surplus represents the difference between the (b) AR SBIEARN G D 3T 7 mEE AR
nominal value of share capital of the Company issued and the ARABREBEERERA (R=-ZET_F+_-_A=
aggregate amount of nominal value of share capital of +— B BB 3 i pr Uk BE B B A F)
subsidiaries acquired by the Company through an exchange of AT ERSE 2 =% o
shares pursuant to a group reorganisation, which was completed
on 31 December 2002.

(c) As stipulated by the rules and regulations in the People’s Republic () e ARLEMB ([HR|) BN EE
of China (the “PRC"), foreign investment enterprises are required FZHET BB XA EFIE G A
to appropriate part of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior (REETEEERE) 2B DBRIEET
years' losses) to certain statutory reserves. ¥ Ik #75 i 82 Bl 5 ETERE o NPEKY ZREANEEE D
ORYNEBR 2R (“IDMT Shenzhen”) and 3R Bk (85 I 88 B4 (k= *ENHEEEERE CFIDBRAT ([E
&) B R A a], wholly-foreign owned enterprises established in TRENTE R R CEYI) |) I8 B 8 i A
the PRC, are required to appropriate 10% of their after-tax profit B3 (B8 BR A G HEERERZ R H
(after offsetting prior years’ losses) to a general reserve fund (REEEFEEIBRRB) 210%EE—BEE
until the balance of the fund reaches 50% of their share capital S HERELYHERERAZS0% S
thereafter any further appropriation is optional and is I HE% EBERE—SBAILH
determinable by the companies’ board of directors. The statutory BRAZESTSET - RIKEBHEER K
reserve as at 31 December 2004 represents general reserve fund GRY) R —_ZEEME+_—_A=+—RH 2%
of IDMT Shenzhen of approximately HK$680,000 (2003: EEEEE —MBEES A4680,00005 T (=
HK$538,000) which can only be used, upon approval by the TE = : 538,000870) ' MZEETH
relevant authority, to offset prior years’ losses or to increase HBeENAE(KEBKBEILER) EHE
capital. FEBAIEMBR -

xD. ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

A
(=]

=

HEn& K

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2004 HE-TZTWNF+_-_A=+—HILFE

2

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT #% & 1 % 7

i

=2

E)

2004 2003
—EETME —EE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KT E)
Loss from operations L EE (124,766) (28,045)
Adjustments for: RFRTIEE
Allowance for production work in progress — 7E %478 B B /& 84,615 =
Impairment losses recognised in respect of ~ HEWE - FEREE
property, plant and equipment 2 REEE 14,868 =
Depreciation nE 5,307 4,013
Impairment losses recognised in respect of BEERHEEH 2
investment securities HEEE 117 -
Loss (profit) on disposal of property, HEWE  BMERREZ
plant and equipment BB Caf) 84 (658)
Interest income M EWA (17) (156)
Operating cash flows before movements HEEEDAZ
in working capital KERERE (19,792) (24,846)
Increase in inventories =gl (1,959) (3,564)
Increase in production work in progress ERIE B (23,221) (25,837)
Increase in trade receivables FEU E 5 BR 338 (15,183) (2,759)
Decrease (increase) in prepayments, BARE - ReREM
deposits and other receivables FE W SR IE R > (35 4n) 604 (4,598)
Decrease in amount due from an officer El— = MEERER D - (3,300)
Decrease in amount due to a shareholder JE 15— BR 3R SRR A - (12)
Decrease (increase) in amount due FE U — @ A T 5RE
from a related party A (g m) 19 (19)
(Decrease) increase in training fees received — FEUREZ 3| & (Rl 4>) 12 /0
in advance (87) 1,133
Increase in trade payables FE B 5 BR g 8,452 2,566
Increase in other payables and accruals Hoh JE {5 NI R FEET B R 12N 9,580 3,531
Increase (decrease) in amounts FE{TE EHIBE N O )
due to directors 2,621 (182)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES & F8FTAFRE (38,966) (57,887)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ BEBE®X - BE kX (2,176) (10,671)
Increase in pledged bank deposit B R IRIT TG (2,004) -
Purchase of investment securities BEREES (117) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BE R
plant and equipment RGPS A 400 976
Interest received B HE 17 156
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEEFFAFHS (3,880) (9,539)

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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e CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT A6 B & R B &

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
n"l-‘-'-.r\ /IZI\ IE % /Jlb % ‘13):2

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2004 #HE-ZTZWNFF+_A=+—HLLFE

2004 2003
—TTNEF —EE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METD
Increase (decrease) in loans from PR R E R O 4)
shareholders 9,858 (8,110)
Other loans raised FrEEMmER 12,143 9,797
Issue of shares BEITRM 8,744 106,500
Increase in amounts due to shareholders JIE A<t % SRR 12 0 2,147 =
Bank loans raised EHRITER 1,565 14,143
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to FEAT R E A 120 CR )
related parties 1,180 (70)
Repayment of obligations under EEREMERE
finance leases (7,370) (6,557)
Interest paid EENRIESS (5,334) (5,841)
Share issuance costs BT R AR (397) (10,336)
Repayment of other loans BEEMER - (10,500)
Redemption of convertible note Y EIC R - (7,800)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REZHEL2FHE 22,536 81,226
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND BRE&RBEEZEN 2 (BD)
CASH EQUIVALENTS B0 F 5 (20,310) 13,800
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ENzRER
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR REZEY 21,889 8,089
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBER
AT END OF THE YEAR REZEY 1,579 21,889
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HERBEZEYZ A
Bank balances and cash ROTEBRRES 3,635 21,889
Secured bank overdrafts BRBRITES (2,056) =
1,579 21,889

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (R B Mf i o

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 9 October
2002 as an exempted company with limited liability under
The Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended). The
shares of the Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (“GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 4 August 2003.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
38.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Group incurred significant losses of approximately
HK$130,336,000 for the year ended 31 December 2004
and the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$47,264,000 as at 31 December 2004.
Notwithstanding, the directors are of opinion that the
preparation of these financial statements under going
concern basis is appropriate due to the following
considerations:

(1) Bank borrowing’s restructuring

Up to the date of approval of the financial
statements, the Group signed an agreement with
a bank to extend the maturity date of a bank loan
of RMB13,000,000, or equivalent to approximately
HK$12,257,000, from March 2005 to March 2006.

Bk B

—REE
ARARR-_ZZ_F+ANBER
RERBARE-NN—FRFE K
B MEMKLZ ZHREBERAT °
ARABEH TR -_ZET=F\ANA
EEBBARXRIMBRAA (TR
Frl) BIEAR (TBI%AR]) £ -

AR/ HREZERAR  HXE
BB A B 2 F A5 E MNP FE38

BRI REE

AEFBE-_ZTTN
H It & E & 15 PN
130,336, 000;‘%75 AR E
EME+_A=1+—BZRD
%8 A #147,264,000 7T © Lm%ﬂzu
EERARFBECEREERYZS
BHREDBEE - EEAMNT :

i
I
lmm

m%ﬁ%nlll
”ﬂ+

HHH*-FH
A 2%

4H¥FWITH+II

=

(1) EHARTEEZLZB
BEERSWHRRENEZB
Bl AEBE-FHRTESE
HE UBRTERARK
13,000,000t (3k 49 #8 &
12,257,000/ ) 2 B/ HA A
—EERF=ZALEE_ZTEA

F=H-

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Bk B B

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(1

(4)

Bank borrowing’s restructuring (Continued)

In addition, another bank loan of RMB15,000,000
or equivalent to approximately HK$14,143,000
borrowed from Bank of China, Shenzhen branch,
details of which are set out in note 26, has to be
repaid on 3 November 2005. However, the
directors are of the opinion that the maturity date
is likely to be extended for a further year.

Availability of facility

The amount available to the Group for additional
borrowings under the facility granted at 31
December 2004 was approximately HK$9,157,000.
The availability of the facility further increased to
approximately HK$19,157,000 subsequently.

Other loan from SCG Finance Corporation
Limited (“SCG Finance"”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shougang Concord Grand
(Group) Limited (“SCG")

SCG is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability with its shares listed
on the Stock Exchange. As disclosed in note 39,
SCG became the holding company of the Group
subsequent to 31 December 2004 and the directors
are of the opinion that SCG will provide continuous
financial support to the Group.

Loans from shareholders

The loan advanced from Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh
of approximately HK$18,237,000 has been
confirmed by him that he will not seek repayment
from the Group within twelve months from 31
December 2004 or a date upon which such
repayment would not have material adverse effect
on the operation of the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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BEARTEEZEE (B)
BEAN - R BERIT RN D 1T IR
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BEROEA (RE)ARAA(TE
ROGD22ENBLRAER
NEHBERAA(TERNA
B ARGz HEMBERN

BREMA AR B R ETM
KRIIZ2ZHRERAF - HiK
P TEBE AT P £ o 40 Ffd 5239
FIE®E BREHAARZ-ZTZTNO
F+-ZA=+—-B&EEKAELSE
BrERAR MEERAE
RMUAHEAEBIRERFEN
BIE -

RERE X

2EBEEREZEFRAAD
18,237,000 T © R E ML LE
ERREEITIeSKkAEEH
—EENFE+TA=T—HRE
TZEAAREREZEZEER X
ZEEFMERABRE TS

AEBEIREERERNTHNE
&,



il
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  E¥)
Bk B My & 1

POTENTIAL IMPACT ARISING FROM THE
RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

In 2004, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants issued a number of new or revised Hong
Kong Accounting Standards and Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (hereinafter collectively referred to
as “new HKFRSs”) which are effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005. The Group
has not early adopted these new HKFRSs in the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2004.

The Group has commenced considering the potential
impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position
to determine whether these new HKFRSs would have a
significant impact on how the results of operations and
financial position of the Group are prepared and
presented. These new HKFRSs may result in changes in
the future as to how the results of operations and financial
position of the Group are prepared and presented.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention and, in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
The principal accounting policies adopted are as follows:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 December each year.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances
within the Group have been eliminated on consolidation.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
balance sheet at cost less any identified impairment loss.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (R B Mf i o
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Jointly controlled operations

Where a group company undertakes its activities under
joint venture arrangements directly, constituted as jointly
controlled operations, the assets and liabilities arising from
those jointly controlled operations are recognised in the
balance sheet of the relevant company on an accrual
basis and classified according to the nature of the item.
The Group's share of the income from jointly controlled
operations together with the expenses that it incurs are
included in the income statement when it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the

transactions will flow to/from the Group.

Revenue recognition

Sales of goods are recognised when the goods are
delivered and title has been passed.

Training fee income is recognised over the period of the
course. Unearned training fee income received is recorded

as training fees received in advance.

Rental income from equipment leasing is recognised on a
straight line basis over the relevant lease terms.

Box office receipts are recognised when the digital motion

pictures are exhibited.

Franchise fees from digital cinemas for use of equipment
are recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with
the substance of the relevant franchise agreement.

CG creation and production income is recognised when
the film production service is provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the interest rate
applicable.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS !
Bk B M &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation are provided to write off the cost of assets,
other than construction in progress, over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight line method, at the

following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Digital film encoders and servers 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Construction in progress represents assets in the course
of construction for production, or administrative purposes,
or for purposes not yet determined, are carried at cost,
less any identified impairment loss. Cost includes all
construction expenditure and other direct costs
attributable to such projects. Costs on completed
construction work are transferred to other appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment and
depreciation of these assets are charged, on the same
basis as other assets when the construction of the related

assets is completed.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives on the same basis as owned

assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement of an
asset is determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the income statement.

Investments in securities

Investments in securities are recognised on a trade-date

basis and are initially measured at cost.

Investments other than held-to-maturity debt securities
are classified as investment securities and other
investments.

Investment securities, which are securities held for an
identified long-term strategic purpose, are measured at
subsequent reporting dates at cost, as reduced by any
impairment loss that is other than temporary.

Other investments are measured at fair value, with
unrealised gains and losses included in net profit or loss
for the period.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, such that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal

of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Film costs and films under production

Films under production is stated at lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct production costs,
consultancy fees, payment for intellectual property rights
and appropriate proportion of production overheads which
are allocated on the basis of floor areas occupied by the
production unit, proportion of time of production facilities
utilised or other systematic allocation methods where the
directors consider appropriate.

Production costs are transferred to film costs upon
completion. Film costs are stated at the lower of cost less
accumulated amortisation, and net realisable value. Film
costs, net of allowance, are amortised based on the ratio
of the actual gross revenues of the current year to the
estimated remaining total gross revenues from all sources
on an individual production basis.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (R B Mf i o

&
L

1

TESHEE ()

B AE (&)

AREBRERER  AEEZEKE
BB EH A WO BE 2 EER]fhar
B HEEEMRCEETSBARE
AFEEEYERBETARESRER
BEZHE - BLOZREEBRTANE
FERIERA °

EXRARERES

EREF DRI AEEATERFEL
BREENR HKABEERRENK
A -BHE ABRERERMAEER
SMEERZEERSD  MAFHNGE
BOEREZMEBEEE - IER
HERBCERLIKIETAREE
ZEMRGEDE T AD H -

SERARBREZKREREET K
AR - BEKANTIRKAER R #
HEAERFEZREEINE - EF
A IR BB DIRAFEZERA
W B AR RIEEEFHEZ AR
i S 2 fhET 88 T AR M s ) 2t B B
i o

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited

D-(
Fﬁ@;&ﬁ%éﬂ%}?ﬂﬁﬁﬂiﬁi



L

s
)
.fr

D

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS & B M &

M e w=

.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-
out method.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported
in the income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes income statement items that
are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or
recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to
the income statement, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the

deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the assets concerned to the Group. Assets
held under finance leases are capitalised at their fair value
at the date of acquisition. The corresponding liability to
the lessor, net of interest charges, is included in the
balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Finance costs,
which represent the difference between the total leasing
commitments and the fair value of the assets acquired,
are charged to the income statement over the period of
the relevant leases so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of charge on the remaining balances of the
obligations for each accounting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

All other leases are classified as operating leases and the
rentals are charged to the income statement on a straight
line basis over the relevant lease terms.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Profits and losses
arising on exchange are included in net profit or loss for
the year.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
overseas operations are translated at exchange rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified
as equity and transferred to the Group’s exchange reserve.
Such translation differences are recognised as income or
as expenses in the year in which the operation is disposed
of.
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V. ¢

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS Y}

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development expenditure is recognised only if it is
anticipated that the development costs incurred on a
clearly-defined project will be recovered through future
commercial activity. The resultant asset is amortised on a
straight line basis over its useful life.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the production of
films that necessary takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for sale are captialised as part of the production
work in progress. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended sale.

Guarantee fees paid in respect of the Group’s bank
borrowings are amortised on a straight line basis over
the term of bank borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in

the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged
as expenses when they fall due.
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»

5.  TURNOVER 5. EX#
Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable RAFERN  EXEFEERERRAE
for goods sold by the Group to outside customers, less SERNMNAZTFIHES M BRER
returns and trade discounts, revenue arising on training (RRERESHIE)  BIE - BT
fee, distribution of digital motion pictures and franchise ABETRIENEEELE NG R
fee, rental income from equipment leasing and CG HEHEZHSKRAREKE G A ER
creation and production income during the year. BER A ©
An analysis of the Group’s turnover is as follows: AEBEERz2OMAT -
2004 2003
—TEMF —FE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHAT
Sales of goods 35 & S m 41,630 8,599
Training fee b l[E= 5,064 2,577
Rental income from equipment leasing  REHEE 2 HE WA 1,072 137
Box office receipts from distribution BOIHBEERY
of digital motion pictures ZEKA 93 93
Franchise fee from digital cinema HEEREARBREE L
for use of equipment =R EE 76 72
CG creation and production income B K B & Bl 1E R AR A 52 -
47,987 11,478

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #



6.

BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6.
(a) Business segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently

organised into three operating divisions — digital

content distribution and exhibitions, the provision

of CG training courses and CG creation and

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS ik B [ff &= o

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS %

wE K N

EBRitED I

(a) EXK2I
REEMS  AEERES A
—AZEHE  BREEBEAR
BORET  RESKEGE
FREREKE G A ERE

production. These divisions are the basis on which B - ZEDMNAEEZ2HE

the Group reports its primary segment information.

TRNHEHZEE -

Segment information about these businesses is EHEZEEB 2O BERZT

presented below:

mF -

For the year ended 31 December 2004
HE_ZZMFE+_A=1+—-HLLFE

Digital
content
distribution CG CG
and training creation and
exhibitions courses production Consolidated
FERNR ERER BERER
ZORET EIRE &S B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TERT FET THEL
Turnover e
External #oh 42,871 5,064 52 47,987
Result 4
Segment result DEEE 1,601 (9,026) (105,431) (112,856)
Unallocated corporate income AOBEFERA 17
Unallocated corporate AOEEE
expenses F% (11,927)
Loss from operations mEER (124,766)
Finance costs BE KA (5,545)
Loss before income tax BRIETAER (130,311)
Income tax expense PSR 5 52 (25)
Net loss for the year AEEFBRER (130,336)

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited -E
B R 8 ® A B 2 KR £ B 2 7
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For the year ended 31 December 2004
BE-TTNE+-A=1+-ALEE
Digital
content
distribution G (€¢]
and training creation and
exhibitions courses production Corporate  Consolidated
EAETARS ERER EREEK
BORET BHRE AlfEREME HH# At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 # #
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At 31 December 2004
RZZEENF+=-A=1+—H
Digital
content
distribution CG CG
and training creation and
exhibitions courses production Consolidated
HEAT ERE & BRE &
BIOIRER EAIRR Bl R BHE A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET FET FTET

122,621

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited [CHDH@
B ¥R ¥ B & ¥ 2 R & B 2 7 [HOLDING
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6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 6. EBRHEDI (F)
(Continued)
(a)  Business segments (Continued) (a) EXKpI (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2003
BE-RR=F-AZt-ALEE

Digital
content
distribution (G CG
and training creation and
exhibitions courses production Eliminations  Consolidated
HBEAD ERER EHEG
BIRER HilRE BlfERBHE HE =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THEL THIL THL THL
Turnover BEH
External #45 8,901 2,577 - - 11,478
Inter-segment’ A 2,025 - - (2,025) =
Total a2 10,926 2,577 - (2,025) 11,478
Result B
Segment result NEEE (8,824) (4,078) (6,408) (19,310)
Unallocated corporate income RABREERA 156
Unallocated corporate expenses APREERT (8,891)
Loss from operations LeER (28,045)
Finance costs BEKA (5,255)
Loss before income tax BEEHIEE (33,300)
Income tax credit FEREE 151
Net loss for the year REEERTE (33,149)
* Inter-segment transactions are charged at prevailing * DEHERFARTHEMR °

market prices.
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6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
(Continued)

(b)

Geographical segments

The Group’s three business segments operate in
four main geographical areas, namely, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), India, Singapore
and other regions. The head office of the Group is
located in Hong Kong. The Group’s CG creation
and production centre and the CG training facilities
are located in the PRC. Customers of the Group's
digital content distribution and exhibitions business
are located in the PRC, India, Singapore and other

regions.

The following table provides an analysis of the
Group’'s turnover by geographical market,
irrespective of the origin of the goods.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (R B Mf i o

6. XBRMEZD I (&)

(b)

ith & 5 &

REBZ=EXBIFEER
AR - BIhEARS
FE([RE]) - EE - FME
REMME - AEB BN
EEREE MEKEGEIE
REERLREKE G
RANAFE - AEEHBER
RETRBLREBZEFEM
R EE - FTNE R E

=
oo ©

TERARAEBEXFERMED
52 T R EE an SRR o

2004 2003
—TEMF —TT=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

The PRC, excluding Hong Kong HE - NEEES 29,747 2,814
India ENE 1,905 7,100
Singapore 3703 5,653 78
Other regions H i [ 10,682 1,486
47,987 11,478
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W ® NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
\\_“ B B M &
6. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
(Continued)

6. EBRHED M (&)

(b)  Geographical segments (Continued) (b) HESI(E)
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount UTRIBEECHBERD
of segment assets, and additions to property, plant X BERZREZABERESE
and equipment, analysed by the geographical area EFEMEZ DT :
in which the assets are located:
Additions to property,
Segment assets plant and equipment
DEE E ME BERRBIAE
2004 2003 2004 2003
“TENE —TT=F —TENE —TET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHTT FHET FHT
The PRC, excluding RE - NEE
Hong Kong BB 52,897 67,321 3,838 13,691
Hong Kong B 2,921 48,129 1,174 4,083
India e 1,116 1,485 - -
Singapore AT 728 115 - =
Other regions H i = 4,594 3,665 40 85
Total &t 62,256 120,715 5,052 17,859
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LOSS FROM OPERATIONS 7. REEE
THE GROUP
REE
2004 2003
—ZT M —EE=F
HK$'000 HK$'OO_O
FHET FHAT
Loss from operations was arrived KEBEBEHR
at after charging: I &IE
Auditors’ remuneration % AT B & 874 1,035
Depreciation e 11,684 9,717
Less: amounts included in B ET AERIIA B
production work in progress Z KR (6,377) (5,704)
5,307 4,013
Exchange loss, net i 5 B8 OF58) 177 73
Impairment losses recognised EEREERFZ
in respect of investment securities VEREN SRt 117 =
Loss on disposal of property, LEWE  BER
plant and equipment HfE BB 84 =
Minimum lease payments under KERE TR
operating leases for BF 2 &K
land and buildings HERR 6,069 4,708
Less: amounts included in B ETAERIEE
production work in progress Z KR (1,392) (1,158)
4,677 3,550
Research and development costs it 7% K [ 3 AR 2,275 2,845
Staff costs, including directors’ BIXRA - BiE
emoluments (note 8(a)): B2 < (E8()) :
— Salaries, wages and other benefits 52 TAEREMBETN 35,590 30,320
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions ~ — 3R K48 K| 5+ &1 1t & 1,683 1,101
Total staff costs #8 TR A 37,273 31,421
Less: amounts included in W s AERIIE R
production work in progress - (17,638) (17,795)
amounts included in research ENIE R
and development costs B AN 2 5 RR (2,275) (2,845)
17,360 10,781
and after crediting: Wt AN EIE :
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE BER
plant and equipment B & - 658
Interest income M E WA 17 156

Global Digital Creations Holdings
B B 8 B & B £ R F R
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|



e NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS i B M &

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Bk B M &

8. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES’ 8. EEXEKEEMNZ

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEMeE
Details of emoluments paid and payable to the RAFEERN ENRENES
directors during the year are as follows: MecHFBEMT -

Year ended 31 December 2004
BE-PEME+-AS+-ALEE

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
Hek R
ik LR BT =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fizt TET TET TET TEL
Executive directors: BITEE
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh REBRE 1,200 336 12 1,548
Mr. Richard Yin Yingneng FREELE (a) - 1,200 6 1,206
1,200 1,536 18 2,754
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh RERRE - - - -
Dr. David Deng Wei BeEEt 300 - - 300
Mr. Stephen Scharf Stephen Scharf’t & (b) 300 - - 300
600 - - 600
Independent non-executive directors:  BUFHTEZE :
Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung BERLE 380 - - 380
Professor Japhet Sebastian Law EEHK 380 - - 380
Mr. Paul Kwan Yuen Chiu BRI E (© - - - -
Dato’ Mohd Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain Dato’ Mohd Ibrahim
bin Mohd Zain (d) 133 - - 133
893 - - 893
2,693 1,536 18 4,247
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DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES’ 8. EBEKEEM=E (B)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(@)  Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM£ (8)
Notes: Miat -
(a) Resigned on 24 June 2004. (a) RZEZENFENA-+NT
HEHE -
(b) Re-designated from independent non-executive (b) RZZEZTWNFNA—HA
director to non-executive director on 1 April BYERTEETETAE
2004 and resigned on 16 February 2005. HITEFE TR _ZTZTR
FZATBEE-
(c) Appointed on 25 September 2004. (c) NR-ZEEMEALA=-+TH
HEZRMT-
(d) Appointed on 18 January 2004 and resigned on (d) RZZTZENE—-HA+N\H
10 June 2004. BZAITR-_TZTNF X
B+ BEET-
Year ended 31 December 2003
HE2-ZZ-G+_A=+-HIFE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
Hek R
B LR RN HEL$: Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TET THEL
Executive directors: HITESE
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh DEELE - 1,536 12 1,548
Mr. Richard Yin Yingneng FEEEE 150 600 3 753
150 2,136 15 2,301
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh REALE - - - -
Dr. David Deng Wei HEEt 225 - - 225
225 - - 225
Independent non-executive directors: BUEHTES:
Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung G bk 285 - - 285
Professor Japhet Sebastian Law EXEAE 285 - - 285
Mr. Stephen Scharf Stephen Scharf4t & 225 - - 225
Dato" Mohd Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain Dato" Mohd Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain - - - -
795 - - 795
1,170 2,136 15 3,321

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited -
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8. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES' 8. EBEREEME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(@)  Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) E=EM<E (&)
Mr. Paul Kwan Yuen Chiu waived his emoluments HE_ZZENF+-_A=1+—
of approximately HK$75,000 (2003: Nil) for the HIEFE  BRITSERER
year ended 31 December 2004. No other directors B & 4975,0008 c (ZTZE =
waived any emoluments for the years ended 31 FoE) HEZTMERZ
December 2004 and 2003. EE=F+_A=1T—HILMN
BEE  WEEMEZNREL
& o
(b)  Employees’ emoluments (by EEMS
During the year, the five highest paid individuals REAFEAN - AfumZeiH AL
included two directors (2003: two directors), details BREMUEZE(ZZEZE=F : @
of whose emoluments are set out above. The NEZE)  HMemFERERN L
emoluments of the remaining three (2003: three) X o BI=fU(ZTEZT=F: =
highest paid individuals were as follows: f)&EERHEATZBEWT :
2004 2003
—ZTTEF —TT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Salaries and other benefits e K H b 18 7l 3,867 4,905
Retirement benefits scheme contributions & /K& 7 5t 2l 1t 2% 32 24
Performance related incentive payments HERRES - 390
3,899 5,319
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10. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) CREDIT

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (R B Mf i o

s im

FrEs (FAx) &R

2004 2003
—ETMEF —ETE=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
The income tax expense (credit) comprises:  FT5%iF > (%) B 4F :
Current tax g1
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") — Bl EPTIE R
(THBECEMETR]) 25 =
Deferred taxation (note 16) EERIE (MfE16)
— Current year -BFE - (151)
25 (151)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in
the financial statements for both years as the Group had

no assessable profit arising in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the relevant income tax regulations for
productive enterprises with foreign investment established
in the PRC and being approved by the relevant PRC tax
authority, the subsidiaries in the PRC are eligible for an
exemption from PRC EIT for two years starting from the
first profit-making year after offsetting all tax losses carried
forward from the previous five years, followed by a 50%

reduction of tax rate in the next three years.

AR ASERBERAELRRN G
M BREEXAFEZHBHRERAR
BAENGSHIELESE -

BEEBNETERIZIBREL
ECEZARMBREZRLRLTRE
MRS E  ETEZHE AR
RERMBEBEBBETIFAEZRA
B EERE ERNEEEMESF
B EBHREGMATRCEMSENR X
HER=-FRERR —FWEX -
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Q. EAH
£

10. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) CREDIT
(Continued)

The income tax expense (credit) for the year can be

™ NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

10. FiEH (AX)EHR (&

AEEMEMAX (HR) 2

g)

5 A B2

reconciled to the loss per the consolidated income KEBEBZHENOT :
statement as follows:
2004 2003
—ETMEF 2T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before income tax & AT 15 B B &S 1B (130,311) (33,300)
Tax calculated at Hong Kong REBNEHHE17.5%
Profits Tax rate of 17.5% (Z2ZT=F :17.5%)
(2003: 17.5%) B2 BIA (22,804) (5,828)
Tax effect of income that are not BB E TERRBA Z
taxable for tax purpose ME B (1) (24)
Tax effect of expenses that are not RBEBEME T THNRRAZ 2
deductible for tax purpose R & 19,572 2,554
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ A EERHEBEZRIETE 5 1,281
Tax effect of temporary SERABERR S
differences arising from 5| BUR 2 3% A
unrealised profits resulting FE & 2 B R
from intra-group ER BB
transactions not recognised A 1,171 1,400
Effect of tax exemptions granted BB B A R BRI
to subsidiaries in the PRC NezwE 2,114 466
Effect of different tax rates of REMAEERESE Z
subsidiaries operating in MEAR X
other jurisdictions ERZZE (32) =
Income tax expense (credit) for the year ARNFEEFEFHHEL (KE) 25 (151)
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LOSS PER SHARE 1. BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the REBZERERNBEDEAEEES
net loss for the year of approximately HK$130,336,000 1BFEE4130,336,0008 T (ZEE=
(2003: HK$33,149,000) and the weighted average of 4 :33,149,000% 5) REEHTKRH
793,197,377 shares (2003: 715,903,027 shares) in issue ZINHEFH 793,197,377 (=TT
during the year. =4 :715,903,027/R) 5T &
No diluted loss per share has been calculated for the year HREREETERER ST MF
ended 31 December 2004 as the exercise of the share EzEREERD - Bt fE 258
options would result in a decrease in the loss per share. EZETMEF+_A=+—HILEE
Diluted loss per share was not presented for the year LEHREEEE BREEZTT=
ended 31 December 2003 because there was no potential F+ZRAR=1+—HLFELEEBEE
ordinary shares in existence for that year. LBk RUEEEINZFEZER
BEEE -
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 1% BERRE
Furniture, Digital film Construction
Leasehold fixtures and Computer encoders Motor in
improvements equipment equipment and servers vehicles progress Total
EE
A BEER
BEXE RERRE BB fel R HE kEER aif
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TR THEL THL Thn Tk
THE GROUP A5E
COST A&
A1 January 2004  RZEENE-A-R 16,909 1,067 30,534 1914 1,022 4,684 56,130
Additions hE 16 198 4,838 - - - 5,052
Transfer af 4,684 - = = = (4,684) =
Disposals HE - - 4) = (570) = (574)
At31 December 2004 RZFRMET-A=T-H 21,609 1,265 35,368 1,914 452 - 60,608
DEPRECIATION fig
At1January 2004  RZEEME-A-R 4215 3% 15,016 319 200 - 20,146
Provided for the year ¥R &fE 2,157 JEf| 9,047 % 147 - 11,684
Impairment losses S 14,868 - - - - = 14,368
Eliminated on disposals it & i3 - - (4) = (86) = (%)
At 31 December 2004 R=ZZME+-A=1-H 21,240 633 24,059 415 261 - 46,608
NET BOOK VALUES  REFE
At 31 December 2004 R=FEMET-A=+-H 369 632 11,309 1,499 191 - 14,000
At31 December 2003 RZEE=£+-A=1-0  126% 671 15,518 1,595 82 4,684 35,984

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Due to a disfurnishment notice from the PRC government
to the landlord for which the premises were rented by
the Group, the directors considered that the relevant
leasehold improvements were fully impaired and
impairment losses of approximately HK$14,868,000 (2003:
Nil) were identified and charged to the consolidated

income statement.

At 31 December 2004, the cost and accumulated
depreciation and depreciation charge for the year of
computer equipment and digital film encoders and servers

12.

ME - HMERZE (&)
HREBTFHEBFCRASEEMRAR
MEZEIBRHRBBN  EFZE
KERHEREEL2EEE  mME
R ZBERIER%14,868,000% 7T
(ZZT=F B)VTREEBEERNA
Bk o

R_ZEZTNME+_A=+—H  &&
EANGEERNCEMREBEREEE
TYRERMARRZFERARZER

of the Group held for use in operating leases are analysed FERFESH I OFWT :
as follows:
THE GROUP
REH
Digital film
Computer equipment encoders and services
K % HBELRERRARSE
2003 2004 2003
—TTNE ZTT=F C"TTWNHF _"TT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET
Cost BN 490 957 957
Accumulated depreciation Rt E (134) (256) (160)
356 701 797
Depreciation charge FEHTEZH
for the year 112 96 96
At 31 December 2004, net book values of computer RZZEZENF+_A=+—H8 ' &
equipment and motor vehicles of the Group included BERERECEEMS  A5EE
amounts of approximately HK$4,996,000 (2003: MEERAEZERMFEDNEEA

HK$10,239,000) and HK$86,000 (2003: HK$150,000)
respectively in respect of assets held under finance leases.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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13. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 13. RBARZHERZ
THE COMPANY
VNN
2004 2003
—ETNF —EE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FE T
Unlisted shares, at cost JEEMRG - BAAAE 9,892 9,892
Less: Impairment losses recognised (Note) & : B R B E K18 (f7:) (9,892) =
- 9,892
Amounts due from subsidiaries, JE UL B /B8 A B 5 IE
net of allowance of approximately (BB HD 96,754,0005%77:)
HK$96,754,000 (2003: Nil) —EE=F &) 10,536 76,516
10,536 86,408

Note: During the year, the directors of the Company reviewed
the carrying value of the interests in subsidiaries with
reference to the recoverable amount, impairment losses
of approximately HK$9,892,000 (2003: Nil) were
identified and charged to the Company's income

statement.

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and have no fixed repayment terms. In
the opinion of directors, the amounts would not be settled
within twelve months from the balance sheet date and
are accordingly classified as non-current.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2004 are set out in note 38.

CER

REEERN ARAIEFLLER W EH
HERI TRINBARES CHE  Bi#
RO EEE 49,892,000 T (ZTT =
F:E)URARAZERERAMK

BUEMBLARZHEAREERR 28
FEETEFR EFRR  AEXK
EHAREBEAEART _BEAARE
- MAKIMEFRRBDEE °

Vi NG/NI] m&E+=-—HB=+—H
ZEEWBRARIZFBHNKIFE3S °

TT
= <
-

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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* NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

14. JOINTLY CONTROLLED OPERATION 14, HEEHEK
The Group has entered into a jointly controlled operation AREBEFT Y —BERESZES - A
to undertake a digital content distribution and exhibition ETHEARTBITIRETREH - RZ
contract. At 31 December 2004, the aggregate amounts ETWF+=ZA=+—H  RAKE
of assets, turnover and results recognised in the accounts NERBEBEASERLRES ZEBSP
in relation to the Group’s interests in the jointly controlled FibRaEE  SXBERFERELSE
operation are as follows: mE
THE GROUP
rEHE
2004 2003
—TEMF —TT=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
RESULTS ES
Turnover S
Box office receipts from distribution BITHBER
of digital motion pictures ZEWKA 93 74
Franchise fee from digital cinema HIEE ARG
for use of equipment FEELzEF#ES 76 72
169 146
Cost of sales — depreciation HEKA-—TE (96) (96)
Group's share of profit for the year REE R 2 FE T 73 50
NET ASSETS BEFE
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERZE
— digital film encoders and servers — IS E R A8 & fa AR 2% 702 798
Trade receivables JE KB 5 BR K 268 50
970 848

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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INVESTMENT SECURITIES 15. RERS
2004 2003
—TTmE —EE=%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Unlisted equity securities I E AR A E 117 =
Less: Impairment losses recognised o BERRREERE (117) =
At 31 December 2004, the investment represents RZEZENMEF+=—A=+—8 " *ﬁ_ﬁﬁ
investment in a 25% equity interest in Production and KEER —BEEBREMKZIZ A
Partners Multimedia, SAS, a company incorporated in Production and Partners Multimedia,
France. Since the Group did not have any significant SASHER25%REZIRE - ARAK
influence to the investee, the investment is accounted EHZEREAATEFTMNERNY
for in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for & E&E%IﬁhﬁﬂLﬁ’?”SEJr,ﬁ“;ﬁ U
investment securities in accordance with Statement of BUKRIREFFZGTREIRAE
Standard Accounting Practice No. 24 “Accounting for BEREZFEFZE d‘ﬁ(ﬁlﬁfi
Investments in Securities”.
During the year, the directors of the Company reviewed RAFER RAREZEFEL2ETHK
the carrying value of the investment with reference to Bl EERNTZEREZHEE - E
the recoverable amount, impairment losses of R EBELN117, OOO/%E(_ =L
approximately HK$117,000 (2003: Nil) is identified and _E B)UWREGEEETZRAMR -
charged to the consolidated income statement.
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 16. EEHIEBEE

The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised
by the Group and movements thereon during the current
and prior reporting periods:

LT RAEERERFEERN RS REAM
MERRBRLEIEECHBEERAE
&) -

THE GROUP
r&EE

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Others Total
MEBERE 2t A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THAL TAET
At 1 January 2003 R-—EE=F—-f—H - - -
Credit to income statement for the year st A BBz & 118 33 151

At 31 December 2003 and R-BZE=F+-_A=1+—-HR

31 December 2004 ZEENE+-A=+—H 118 33 151

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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16. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued) 16. ELRBEE ()
At the balance sheet date, the Group has the following REER  AEBANUTEENE
major deductible temporary differences and tax losses, of REBRTEAER  HEHREZELN
which no deferred tax assets were recognised due to the Hi#& % FRR « 30 & R (R T
unpredictability of the future profit streams: MIAEE -
THE GROUP
KEE
2004 2003
—TTMF —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Unrealised profits resulting from SEER 5Bz
intra-group transactions NET R A 26,485 19,794
Tax losses that may be carried AR EE
forward indefinitely MR R 7,657 7,634
34,142 27,428
The Company had no significant unprovided deferred tax RARABIRBEMEFEIRNEEEB
for both years or at the balance sheet dates. 37 % (F fa] B2 K () R BB IEE R IE o
17. INVENTORIES, AT COST 17. & BEAXE

THE GROUP
KEE
2004 2003
—EENF —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Raw materials JR 1,765 938
Finished goods BB o 3,758 2,626
5,523 3,564
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PRODUCTION WORK IN PROGRESS 18. #EHRIEHF
THE GROUP
NEE
2004 2003
—EEmE —TT=f&
HK$'000 HK$'000
Notes FHET FH& T
Movie, net of allowance of By 0 Mk EE
approximately HK$70,000,000 #770,000,0007% 7T
(2003: Nil) —EE=F : E\) (i) 20,340 75,666
Television series, net of allowance BEREEE - HBREE
of approximately #714,615,000/5 T
HK$14,615,000 (2003: Nil) (ZEBEZT=%F: &|) (i) - —
Others Hh 961 -
21,301 75,666
Notes: T

(ii)

The amount represents production costs incurred for the
film titled “Thru the Moebius Strip” (the “Film"), a movie
project currently under production by the Group. Having
regard to the latest production status of the Film,
projected sales estimated by the Group's sales agents
and the uncertainty in finalising distribution/licence
agreements among the potential markets on a timely
basis, the directors have made an allowance of
approximately HK$70,000,000 (2003: Nil) for the year
and in their opinion that the production costs incurred
as at 31 December 2004, net of allowance, are fully
recoverable.

The amount represents production costs incurred for the
television series titled “Panshel’s World" (the "TV
Series”). As at 31 December 2004, there was a litigation
in relation to the co-production of the TV Series, details
of which are set out in note 33, the directors have
considered recoverability in these circumstance for the
production costs already incurred and a full allowance
of approximately HK$14,615,000 (2003: Nil) was made.

(ii)

ZAEHRBEZR [Thru the
Moebius Strip] ([ &R 1) MEE
ZRIUMERA  ZE R A SBERE
ZEREYHEE - ERZE AR RE
BERR  AEBEZHERBMHE
MESHEERREET SR EE
T/ MERRETRNEENS
\E\Jmﬁ%féﬁﬁl§v§$ai\%$
FEELEELK 70,000,000/ 7T
(_77_¢ ) MEZ IR A
NZETMFF+ =R =+— Elﬁﬁ%l
Bl BUERA (R B ) 15 7] B
W o

ZRIBEREREEZE [Panshel's
Wor/dJ<r:i?€ﬁ@ Bll) mESE
ZRUERA c RZZETWMF+ = ﬂ
=+—B AEEHEAEFAL
ez EREEE S BFL (.ﬁﬁ
EHAME33)  EERAE - ER
AZEREEEMEEEENRE
BRAREGA FUHREGAERE - RE
B EH 2 EEHE 414,615,000
T(ZET=ZF : &) -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group allows an average different credit periods to
its trade customers depending on the type of products or
services provided. The majority of sales of goods are on
letter of credit against payment, the remaining amounts

are granted with average credit terms of 90 days.

The following is an aged analysis of the trade receivables

19. BWEZ KR
AEENRBEBGEREPARRH
MEmMmIREBEMGE TRETRD
FHEEH AZHBEEERHERM
Yo B B 32 A5 A RE BRI T E - T EL B ROR
A% TOOH 2 FHIEEH -

REER  AEERKEZERZE

of the Group at the balance sheet date: BOMWT -
THE GROUP
NEE

2004 2003
—ETNF —EE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Within three months =@AR 16,545 2,699
Three to six months =Z=NEA 1,070 13
Over six months ~E R E 396 116
18,011 2,828

20. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED PARTY

The amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing and was
fully settled during the year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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TRADE PAYABLES 21. BHEZERRM
The following is an aged analysis of the trade payables of NEER AEEENEZERERZE
the Group at the balance sheet date: BOMWT -
THE GROUP
AEH
2004 2003
—ZETMEF —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within three months =EAR 10,257 2,170
Three to six months =ZXEA 744 396
Over six months NME A E 17 =
11,018 2,566
AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS AND 22. BRNESKRRME
SHAREHOLDERS
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have ZEFBRERR 2ERERBTE
no fixed terms of repayment. A o
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 23. BHBEEALRE

The amounts are due to Global Digital Creations Limited
(“GDCL") and O'Melveny and Myers LLP (“O'Melveny”)
and are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand. GDCL is a former holding company of the
subsidiaries comprising the Group prior to the
Reorganisation. Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, Mr. Anthony
Francis Neoh and Dr. David Deng Wei, who are directors
of the Company, and Mr. Richard Yin Yingneng, a former
director of the Company, were directors and/or
shareholders of GDCL. O'Melveny is a law firm in the
United States of America in which Mr. Stephen Scharf, a
non-executive director of the Company, is one of the
partners of O'Melveny. The amount due to O' Melveny
represented legal and professional services rendered to
the Group.

J& i Global Digital Creations Limited
(IGDCL]) % 0'Melveny and Myers
LLP([O'Melveny]) 2 XIB A EHE A -
RERRBHMER - GDCLREMAMMA
KAREEHBRARZAERAA o
REHEE  REREERBERL
BHAERRAESR) RFEELEE (KD
AlZAEESR) Y AGDCLZES R,/
R - O'Melveny B E B — 2 =
B ARAZBIUFRITES
Stephen Scharf%: £ & 0'Melveny 2 &
BAZ— ° B O MelvenyZ K IE 1§
MARERMZEZEREERBMEX
NzB8A -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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24. LOANS FROM SHAREHOLDERS 24. REER
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
AEME NG
2004 2003 2004 2003
—ETNEF —ET=-F —TTNE 2=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
[k FHT THT T T

Repayable within one year: AR —FREE :

Bright Oceans Corporation  Bright Oceans Corporation
(HK) Limited (HK) Limited (a) 3,157 = 3,157 =

f&

Repayable after one year: B —F/4E

Al

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh 2 E A% 4E (b) 18,237 11,536 - -
21,394 11,536 3,157 -

Notes: Kt et

(a) The loan is unsecured, bears interest at best lending (a) ZEERREER RABLBE
rate as quoted by the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking LRITBERAATEMFZZER
Corporation Limited (“Best Lending Rate”) from time to ME(THEEFE]) NFE3EFF
time plus 3% per annum and is repayable on demand. BERZBHMER -

(b) The loan is unsecured, bears interest at Best Lending (b) ZERREER BTEREST
Rate from time to time plus 3% per annum and is not EMERIEFERBEAREREE
repayable within twelve months from the balance sheet HRT-EANEE -
date.
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W

OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 25. MEHEEAEE
Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
REAE REAE2RE
2004 2003 2004 2003
“ETNEF —EE=F “EETNEF —TE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL
THE GROUP A5H
Amounts payable under RRERE,
finance leases: JE {508
Within one year —&R 6,885 8,217 6,796 7,354
In the second to EEEREF
fifth year inclusive (BEBEME) 2,554 6,437 2,211 6,147
9,439 14,654 9,007 13,501
Less: future finance charges W RRBESH (432) (1,153) - -
Present value of lease obligations HE&E v B(E 9,007 13,501 9,007 13,501
Less: Amount due for settlement J& : B —% A
within one year (shown BEZFA
under current liabilities) GlERBARE) (6,796) (7,354)
Amount due for settlement BAR—FREE
after one year 2B 2,211 6,147

It is the Group’'s policy to lease certain of computer
equipment and motor vehicles under finance leases. The
lease terms range from two to five years. For the year
ended 31 December 2004, the average effective borrowing
rate was 9%. Interest rates are fixed at the contract date.
All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no
arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental

payments.

The Group's obligations under finance leases are secured
by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets.

ARECHREDREREMEERE
TERRBRAE BHEFHNF=
ERFAE -BE_ZZNFE+_A
=+ HBLEEE FHEREENX
R9% - METDRBENBMERE - A
HEONEEEEREERALEHRK
AEERILERMRH -

AEE RMEREREHEEAR
MEEEZEMBEM -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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26. BANK BORROWINGS

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

26. RIEBE

THE GROUP
REE

2004 2003
—ZTTNEF ZTT=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
1 &% FET FHET
Secured bank loans BHEERTER (a) 28,286 28,286
Secured bank overdrafts E?ﬁ#ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁiﬁ (b) 2,056 =
Secured factoring loan BB E R () 1,565 =
31,907 28,286

The above amounts bear interest at prevailing market

PREENRBATEANENL - &L

rates and are repayable as follows: ARUATFEHREE :
THE GROUP
REE
2004 2003
—ETMEF —EET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FAT
Within one year —F R 31,907 14,143
In the second year F-ER - 14,143
31,907 28,286
Less: Amount due for B AR—FER
settlement within one year B8 2 %A
(shown under current liabilities) BIERE & &) (31,907) (14,143)
Amount due for settlement AR—FRER
after one year Z A - 14,143

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 31 October 2002,
RMB30,000,000, or equivalent to approximately
HK$28,286,000, have been obtained by & Bk S 15 £ 62
BHECZYI)BBR A A Institute of Digital Media Technology
(Shenzhen) Limited (“IDMT Shenzhen”) from Bank of
China, Shenzhen branch (“BOC Facilities”). The BOC
Facilities were renewed and revised to RMB15,000,000
or equivalent to HK$14,143,000 on 4 November 2004
and the maturity date extended from 31 October 2004

banking facilities of

to 3 November 2005. The outstanding loan as at 31
December 2004 was RMB15,000,000 (2003:
RMB15,000,000), or equivalent to approximately
HK$14,143,000 (2003: HK$14,143,000). At 31 December
2004, the BOC Facilities were guaranteed by the
Company and ##&ERAERBR A F("CICG"), a

independent third party (the “CICG Guarantee”). The
Company and Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh have given
counter-guarantees in favour of CICG and GDC China
Limited (“GDC China”), a subsidiary of the Company,
has pledged its entire interest in the registered capital
of IDMT Shenzhen to CICG (“BOC Asset Pledge”) for
the repayment of all debts incurred by CICG for which
CICG is liable under the CICG Guarantee. The counter-
guarantee given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh and the
Company and the BOC Asset Pledge remain effective
until IDMT Shenzhen has repaid all debts under the BOC

Facilities.

26.

e

(a)

THRE (&)

RZZEZ_F+A=+—H " R
SRR ORI BERAE (3R
PR RR ORI 1) mA B R
1R Y15 THRE AR 30,000,000
Tt (FBE 1 #928,286,000/ 7T) $R1T
BRE(RERITERE]) - FE
RITERECR-_ZENE+— A
mAETAARE15000,0007T
W*E% A 14,143,000/ 7T) I &
BB ST E A=
+t—BEE-_TTAFT—A=
H-R=_FETWME+=-_A=1+—H
ZARERBER A AREE15,000,000
T(ZZTET=ZF : AR ¥
15,000,00075 ) @ 3 48 & R
14,143,0005%71(:2§E¢
14,143,000/ 7C) ° T4
+ZA=+—8  FERTEHR
THEARRRBIE=THEER
ERABRRAR ([FEER]) EHE
ROFEERRE]) - ARFHAR
EHEEREELHAFEERRBE R A
ZRER - MARA R 2B RRR
REBRAIZEFRBEAR DA ([RKE
BEIZEFE]) ERFREREEHRL
RIRIRBIGE BB ORYI) M ik
K zeHEs ([REBTEED
#) - ABEBHREEREREER
REMEEZ ZHBEL - BREH
EERADNBMBEZRERERSR
BRTEEERK—BEELER  BEE
RIREBHEREBE ORI BEHRE
RITEREONTEEB AL -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

On 21 March 2003, another banking facilities of
RMB30,000,000, or equivalent to approximately
HK$28,286,000, have been obtained by IDMT Shenzhen
from Shenzhen Commercial Bank in Shenzhen (“SCB
Facilities”). The outstanding loan as at 31 December
2004 was RMB15,000,000 (2003: RMB15,000,000), or
equivalent to approximately HK$14,143,000 (2003:
HK$14,143,000). The SCB Facilities were guaranteed by
CICG (the “SCB Guarantee”) and expired on 21 March
2005. The guarantee given by CICG shall be effective
for three years after the expiry of the SCB Facilities. The
Company and Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh have given
counter-guarantees to CICG and GDC China has pledged
its entire interest in the registered capital of IDMT
Shenzhen (“SCB Asset Pledge”) to CICG for the
repayment of all the debts incurred by CICG for which
CICG is liable under the SCB Guarantee. The counter-
guarantees given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh and the
Company and the SCB Asset Pledge provided by GDC
China remain effective until IDMT Shenzhen has repaid
all the debts under the SCB Facilities.

In March 2005, the SCB Facilities were revised, Shenzhen
Commercial Bank extended the maturity date of a portion
of the loan amounted to RMB13,000,000, or equivalent
to HK$12,257,000 to March 2006 with guarantee from
SCG.

At 31 December 2004, a short-term deposit of
approximately HK$2,004,000 (2003: Nil) was pledged
to a bank to secure the bank overdrafts. In addition, the
Company provided a corporate guarantee of
HK$2,000,000 for the overdrafts.

At 31 December 2004, trade receivable of approximately
HK$2,496,000 (2003: Nil) is pledged to a bank to secure
the factoring loan.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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RITIEE ()

&

RZFEZE=F=A=+—H ' B
HHHEBRE CFRY) AR
BITRBE —_BAARARK
30,000,000t ( # & B 4
28,286,000 B L) 2R 1T A&
(DRI AERTHERE]) - R=
EEME+-_HF=+—HZAEE
ExA AR 15,000,000 (=&
T=F: AR¥15,000,0007T) °
IR ER 414,143,000 T (=
T =4 : 14,143,000 T) ° &I
MEERITEREERPEERERE
RDRITRAERTER] - 54
ERENR_ZTRE=A_1+—H
HE - P EERRERBEZEREE
I EERTERERERR
ABH=ZF  ARARRTHELER
BYIREERRER  MERKESD
BB EIE g RN IRERETS 5
B GRYD MR AS 2 230
(MRIIMAEERITEELR]) - I
BEPEERREFYITEERTR
EMEEZEZHES RBRTEHELE
RARDRFR#E 2 RERARAR
KEEP RIS RN TR EET
BEEHEBE—E4EN  BEERIERH
BEERMEBERYMEAERTE
RENmEEB AL -

R_ZZETERFE=A  RITHEER
THERBEELET  £eREA
ZERT  RIMEERTEAE
AR % 13,000,0007T 215 & 7 (3
HEMN 12,257,000 ) 2 B H B
EE-_ZTET R F=A -

RZZETWMFE+—_A=+—H &
HSR1TFE 492,004,000 T (=&
T=F:E)EEFER MR
EBRITEL 2| < fhoh - AR
ARZEEXELRARERA
2,000,000 7T °

R-ZZEWNE+=-_A=+—8 &
B SR #2,496,0008 T (=
T=F:E)BEEFER—MERIT
EBZBRERZIER -
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OTHER LOANS 27. HiERK
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
AEE VYN
2004 2003 2004 2003
—TIME —FTTE=fF —TEMF —TT=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fif i AT THET THET TAET

SCG Finance BEROSHH (a) 10,843 - 10,843 -

TENRE(RE)ERAR LENRE(RE)BRAF (b 7,797 7,797 - -

Ms. Chan Wing Yee, Betty Chan Wing Yee, Bettyx £ (© 1,000 - - -

Ms. Chu Kwok Ying Chu Kwok YingZ & (d) 300 - 300 -

19,940 7,797 11,143 -

Notes: &t

(a) The loan is unsecured, bears interest at Best Lending (a) ZERAEER  ESEBMEN
Rate plus 3% per annum and is repayable within 90 FRIEFERRBEERARIA
days from the drawdown date. Pursuant to a renewed B I0OH A fEE - BHESCG Finance
loan facility from SCG Finance dated 28 February 2005, RZZETRAF-_A-F+/\BEE
the repayment date extended to 29 May 2005. ERERE HEERHSEE_-Z

ZRERA=THEB -

(b) The loan is unsecured, bears interest at 6% per annum (b) RAFER @ ZERREER &
and with maturity date extended from 30 June 2004 to FReEFELIHAEA-_ZTTE
30 June 2005 during the year. The loan is guaranteed FRNA=ZTHEE=ZZZTRHERA
by the Company. =18 - ZERTDHBEARRAREE

R o

(c) The loan is advanced from Ms. Chan Wing Yee, Betty, (c) ZERBREMEE 2B Chan
the spouse of Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh. The loan is Wing Yee, Bettyzz =781} - ZE R
unsecured, bears interest at Best Lending Rate plus 3% REERM  REEFMNENE XS
per annum and is repayable on demand. Ext B RIRBAEE -

(d) The loan is unsecured, bears interest at best lending (d) ZERAREER KREBLEEYZ
rate as quoted by the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking RITERAATHEMB L HZERE
Corporation Limited (“Best Lending Rate”) from time to AR ([HREBEME]) MEXIE
time plus 3% per annum and is repayable on demand. TEREBMER -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited -D- (]
A 'D'i
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28.
Number Nominal
of shares value
PiuE 4E HE
Notes HK$'000
& FAEL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREME.0E T2 EEK
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January 2003 and 31 RZZEZE=F-HA-BRK
December 2003 and 2004 “EE=F+-A=1+—-8k
“ZERF+=-A=+—H 1,200,000,000 12,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR :
At 1 January 2003 R-_ZEZE=F—A—H 40,000,000 400
Issue of shares to pre-listing investors AETAREEBETRD (a) 3,247,992 32
Issue of shares by placing and public offer ~ BREERARBEEETRG (b 66,300,000 663
Capitalisation issue BRI (b) 670,452,008 6,705
At 31 December 2003 RZEE=F+=-A=1+—H 780,000,000 7,800
Issue of shares by placing BB ERTRG (0 20,820,000 208
At 31 December 2004 RZZEZEWE+=A=1T—H 800,820,000 8,008

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #



28.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (R B Mf i o

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 25 and 26 June 2003, the Company allotted and
issued 945,311 and 2,302,681 shares of the Company
of HK$0.01 each to two pre-listing investors at cash
considerations of HK$11,700,000 and HK$28,500,000,
respectively. The excess of the aggregate cash
consideration over the nominal value of shares of
HK$40,168,000 was credited to the share premium
account of the Company. The shares were issued for the
purpose of raising additional capital to finance its
operation.

On 1 August 2003, the Company allotted and issued
66,300,000 shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each to
investors through the placing and public offer at HK$1.00
per share, for cash consideration of HK$66,300,000. The
excess of the aggregate cash consideration over the
nominal value of shares of HK$65,637,000 was credited
to the share premium account of the Company. The
shares were issued for the purpose of raising additional
capital to finance its operation.

On the same date, 670,452,008 shares were allotted as
fully paid at par to the shareholders whose names
appeared on the register of members of the Company
in proportion to their respective shareholdings at the
close of business on 1 August 2003 by way of
capitalisation of the sum of approximately HK$6,705,000
standing to the credit of the share premium account of
the Company. The shares were issued for the purpose of
raising additional capital to finance its operation.

On 14 May 2004, the Company allotted and issued
20,820,000 shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each to
investors through the placing at HK$0.42 per share, for
cash consideration of HK$8,744,000. The excess of the
aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of
shares and net of issuance costs of HK$8,139,000 was
credited to the share premium account of the Company.
The share were issued for the purpose of raising
additional capital to finance its operation.

The new shares issued rank pari passu with existing shares
in all respects.

Bk B My &£

ZIN/N TW
RERMDE

%:%25& SAZ+AREREZ=+~
B - A2a28EHeKE
11,700,000 Jt }2.28,500,0007% &
MR AL T AT B E AR R B AT
945,311/% } 2,302,681 i & I E (&
0.01BTTZ2ARA KM - BREK
BB 1 A 1) E{E 40,168,000/ T JY
AR RBZBMEBERA - 317
BOBEEEEINES  WEME
BEEEMT -

W_ZE=ZFNA—H8 ARAE
BREERAFZEEATR.008 T
MmO’ EE R R BT
66,300,000/ F R EE0.01/8 L2
AAAKfH BHEREA
66,300,000 - R REB M
H&L@Eﬁ@'s 637,000/ 7T Jh st A AR

NAZBRMBERA - HTRME
EEEBINESL  UENHLER
SR

RER ARBRER-_ZTZT=F
NE—BAE¥BHERBRREZS
PRl 2l - LWERLEELY
6,705,000 7t (FF AR 2 8] 2 & {5
BEERER) A NEEERLS AR
Al ZKREZERDMz KRR R
670,452,008/ B R B 17 1T
NEEEEHEINES  NEFHE
@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ°

R-_TZEMFRA+ME AR

BBREERA ﬁﬁé’éﬁ%%ﬁko.m%
TR B RE AR R R BT
20,820,000k B E E0.01B L2
AR K®H BWEREAR
8,744,000 0 - BHESREB L
B EE (MR 2T AR)
8,139,000/ ;L Jiat AR R & Z %
MHEERER  BITRHEEESE
WNES  UWENEEEESHTE -

Zﬁ% %ﬁﬁﬁﬂm
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29.

D

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed at its Special
General Meeting held on 18 July 2003 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to selected
participants for their contribution to the Group. The
Scheme will expire on 17 July 2013.

Under the terms of Scheme, the Board of Directors of the
Company (the “Board”) may grant options to all full-time
employees, directors (including independent non-executive
directors) and part-time employees with weekly working
hours of 10 hours and above, of the Group and any
advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant,
distributors, suppliers, agents, customers, joint venture
partners, service provider to the Group who the Board
considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or

contribution to the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue which can be
refreshed according to the Scheme. The number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised at any time under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 30% of the issued share capital

of the Company from time to time.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders in accordance with the
Scheme. Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director or
any of their respective associates would result in the shares
in the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of grant in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue and with a value (based
on the closing price of the shares of the Company at the
offer date of each offer) in excess of HK$5,000,000, such
grant of options must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders in accordance with the Scheme.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period
to be determined and notified by the directors to the
grantee and in the absence of such determination, from
the date of acceptance of an offer of the grant of such
option to the earlier of the date on which such option
lapses according to the Scheme and ten years from the
date of offer of that opinion. A consideration of HK$1 is

payable upon acceptance the offer.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of the
nominal value of the share; the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer; and the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2004, 14,300,000

options have been granted under the Scheme to the
directors of the Company of which three tranches of
5,100,000, 5,100,000 and 4,100,000 options shall be
vested on the date of approval of the grant of the option,
the first and the second anniversary dates of the approval,
respectively. Such 14,300,000 options may be exercised
at any time during the period from 24 June 2004 to 17
July 2013 at an exercise price of HK$0.44 per each option.
No share option granted under the Scheme had been

exercised up to 31 December 2004.

No share option was granted under the Scheme for the
year ended 31 December 2003 or at 31 December 2003.

The financial impact of share options granted is not
recorded in the Company’s or the Group’s balance sheet
until such time as the options are exercised, and no charge
is recognised in the consolidated income statement in
respect of the value of options granted in the year. Upon
the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares
issued are recorded by the Company as additional share
capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess
of the exercise price per share over the nominal value of
the shares is recorded by the Company in the share
premium account. Options which lapse or are cancelled
prior to their exercise date are deleted from the register
of outstanding options.
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30. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES 30. RO aBR&EE
Share Share
premium  Contributed issuance  Accumulated
account surplus costs losses Total
B n BT
4 (B R BABR Rt B A 2 ER CEl

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TET THET THET
(Note a) (Note b)
(Kfzta) (Ktath)

THE COMPANY ENNG
At 1 January 2003 RZZEE=F—F—H - 9,492 (4,465) - 5,027
Issue of shares to M EMARES

pre-listing investors BITRMG 40,168 - - = 40,168
Issue of shares by placing & B E & 2 H

and public offer BERTRN 65,637 - - - 65,637
Capitalisation issue B AR AT (6,705) = = = (6,705)
Share issuance costs BIRMD KA - = (10,336) - (10,336)
Transfer to share premium BB E iR

account i B R (14,801) - 14,801 = =
Net loss for the year EEBBESE - = = (4,384) (4,384)
At 31 December 2003 RZZT=F+-A=+—H 84,299 9,492 - (4,384) 89,407
Issue of shares by placing & BEE%THRG 8,536 - - - 8,536
Share issuance costs BORMAKA (397) = = = (397)
Net loss for the year FEBESFE - - - (112,631) (112,631)
At 31 December 2004 R-ZTWMF+-_A=+—-H 92438 9,492 - (117,015) (15,085)

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited _
B R 8 ® A B 2 KR £ B 2 7



e NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS #& B Hf &

==

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

= !
o -'I'L.

Bk B B

e |
30. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES BROREBR&E (&)
(Continued)
Notes: [T
(a) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the (a) RNEBMABBEBRNATWENE

difference between the consolidated net assets of the
subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the nominal
amount of the Company’s shares which were issued
pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 31
December 2002. In addition to accumulated profits, the
contributed surplus of the Company is also available for
distribution to shareholders under Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended). However, the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of

contributed surplus if:

(i) the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due;

or

(ii) the realisable value of the Company’'s assets
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and share

premium account.

(b) The share issuance costs were written off against the
share premium account upon the listing of the Company’s
share on GEM.

At 31 December 2004, the Company did not have reserves
available for distribution as calculated in accordance with The
provisions of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended)
(2003: HK$5,108,000)
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MAJOR NON CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into finance lease
arrangements in respect of assets with a total capital
value at the inception of the leases of approximately
HK$2,867,000 (2003: HK$7,188,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company has given guarantees to banks and other
parties in respect of general facilities granted to its
subsidiaries. The extent of such facilities utilised by the
subsidiaries at 31 December 2004 amounted to
approximately HK$38.1 million (2003: HK$36.1 million).

LITIGATION

On 14 May 2003, GDC Entertainment Limited (“GDC
Entertainment”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a co-production agreement (the
"Co-production Agreement”) with West Audiovisual and
Multimedia Consultants, Inc. (“WAMC") and Production
and Partners Multimedia, SAS (“PPM"), in which the
Group has a 25% equity interest, in relation to an
animated television series.

In November 2004, PPM issued a summons for summary
judgment against WAMC and GDC Entertainment in the
Court of Commerce of Angouleme (France), seeking the
appointment of an agent who would oversee the co-
production.

A hearing was scheduled to take place on 11 January
2005. However, at that time, PPM modified its claims
against GDC Entertainment by seeking to substitute a
new producer of the “same nationality” in replacement
of GDC Entertainment pursuant to the Co-production
Agreement, or the appointment of an expert whose task
would be basically to assess the parties respective
liabilities.

31.

32.

33.
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FEHFBRERF
RAFER  AEBEREER V&
BHELZH  AOTTYUBzRELAE
452,867,000 L (Z T ZF = F ¢
7,188,000 71,) °

HAREE

ARBICHMENBARMER 2 — &
EEMRBRITREMALELER -
RZEZTME+=ZRA=+—8H i B8
RAECHRACEBRBEEREAN
38,100,000 L (Z T & = F
36,100,000/ 7T) °

TR

ok
A
oIk

A
NZZBEZ=FAATHIA - ARAFEZ
2 B K B A Al GDC Entertainment
Limited ([ GDC Entertainment]) &2
West Audiovisual and Multimedia
Consultants, Inc.([WAMC]) &
Production and Partners Multimedia,
SAS([PPMI) (REEEA H25% K
BN —EERBEEEBMILAE
Wz ([afEmE]) -

=t

RZZZMFE+—H  PPMIAEEHEZE
e —REESEFEIREBMR
7% B Court of Commerce of
Angouleme WAMCK GDC
Entertainment® i & 5 #IAE o

EBRERAER-_ETRFE—A+—H
81T - AMPPMRE B ERHE HGDC
EntertainmentZ AR ZE - KB AR
BEEBZEBREE] N EER
A {ELAEUAA GDC Entertainment * 8%
T—R2BEALTARINFTEAE
B EE#ETIME -
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LITIGATION (Continued)
On 13 January 2005, the Group was informed by its

French legal advisers that PPM’s new claims do not affect
accrued rights, as even if the Group were substituted,
the monies invested by the Group are recoverable as an

account payable under the co-production.

However, on 14 February 2005, PPM further modified its
claims which include, inter-alia (i) the enforcement of an
article of the Co-production Agreement which provides
that in case of substitution of a producer to another one,
the monies already invested by the Group shall become
an account payable, recoverable from the revenues of
the co-production, however, only “in last position with
the recovery by the other co-producers of their
contribution”, and (ii) that the Group be sentenced to
pay PPM the provisional amount of Euro 5 million, as
damages, this amount being subject to revision according
to the findings of the expert to be appointed by the

Court. The claim for damages is totally unparticularised.

On 10 March 2005, the Group’'s French legal adviser
advised that the chances to recoup the totality of the
investment are uncertain and in any event, the sums owed
to GDC Entertainment will be recoupable only in the last

position pursuant to the Co-production Agreement.
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LITIGATION (Continued)

On 15 March 2005, the French legal adviser advised that
the claims by PPM for the aforesaid provisional amount
of Euro 5 million, as damages, is out of touch with reality
given that (i) PPM does not provide any explanation or
detail computation for the claims of Euro 5 million (ii)
the amount is more or less equals to the total budgeted
costs under the Co-production Agreement and (iii) the
claim is still subject to the summary judgment to be
rendered. The legal adviser further advised that in any
event, the summary judgment to be rendered shall be
very difficult to enforce or even may not be enforceable.
Based on the abovementioned legal advice, the Board
considers that the claims of Euro 5 million as damages
should not have any immediate effect on the Group and
no provision for this amount is considered necessary.
Consideration is also being given by the directors to launch
a counterclaim against PPM in the Hong Kong courts.
The Group's Hong Kong legal have advised that the Group
have good and meritorious causes of action against PPM
and the Hong Kong Courts constitute a proper forum for

the counterclaim.
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34.

OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases which fall due as follows:

KEeMHE

AEBEREEA

REER  AEBERBETAHHELE
MR AR R E B 2 & IEE S &
EWMT

THE GROUP
NEE

2004 2003
—ETNF —EE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FE T
Within one year —F R 5,465 6,421
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EZ2FNF (BIEEEMF) 9,251 15,674
14,716 22,095

Operating lease payment represents rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office premises, production
studio, training centers, warehouse and staff quarters.
Leases for properties are negotiated for a term ranging

from one to five years with fixed rentals.

The Group as lessor

At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted
with the lessees in respect of computer equipment under
non-cancellable operating leases of approximately
HK$114,000 (2003: HK$260,000) which fall due within
one year.

In respect of digital film encoders and servers held in use
for operating lease, the lease agreement does not contain
a fixed lease term, accordingly, the total minimum lease

receipts have not been disclosed in the above.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2004, the Group

entered into a co-production agreement with an
independent third party, Gameone Online Entertainment
Group Limited for the formation of a joint venture
company for the development and production of on-line
video games for the PRC market. At 31 December 2004,
the Group committed to invest approximately HK$600,000
to subscribe for 60% equity interest in the joint venture
company (2003: Nil).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees in Hong
Kong and Singapore. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the government
in the PRC, the subsidiaries in the PRC participate in the
municipal government contribution scheme whereby the
subsidiaries are required to contribute to the scheme for
the retirement benefit of eligible employees. The municipal
government of the PRC is responsible for the entire benefit
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme is to

pay the ongoing contributions required by the scheme.

The retirement benefit costs represent gross contributions
paid and payable by the Group to the schemes operated
in Hong Kong, the PRC and Singapore (collectively the
“Retirement Schemes”). Contributions totalling
HK$95,000 (2003: HK$89,000) payable to the Retirement
Schemes at 31 December 2004 are included in other
payables and accrued charges. There was no forfeited
contribution throughout the year (2003: Nil).

Lol

36.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (R B Mf i o

BEAREE
REBEZE_ZTME+_A=+—HI1
FE - AEBHEBLE=F Gameone
Online Entertainment Group Limited
RN EERERRME N —DEE
Wik ARTEMIHHERRERLE
WREER N TN F+_H="
—B - AEEEHKRELG600,000%
T(ZZEZT=F: &)  URFEEZD
ENTF60%MRIE -

iR AK R A ET &
ARBERAETBRNNEMAEREY
Al 287 RO PR RET &I R
KRB EERBYLEERSE
BYRAEEZEEDHATA °

BETERSERAE  TEMEQ
RIASEEM TR HREE - &
- MEBARARGERERZERHI
8 R EH EE R - BE T BUR
BEXNERNER ZME®RANAE
MARERZAEMBAEZE—]
ENRBZFEREREHFELER -

o

BARBHXKAEAEERERS - H
B R I3 aR 3 2 5P &l (5578 R IR 5T
ENENRENZHFBAE RZF
EME+-_A=+—8 ' EmrEK:
Bz K4 £95,000 B (=
TE =4 : 89,000 BT) O at AE A
BRFEREFERAN - RAFE
W RNEEWEEABRBER(ZE
T=F &) -

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited

D-(
Fﬁ@;&ﬁ%éﬂ%}?ﬂﬁﬁﬂiﬁi



e NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS i B M &
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEREALRES
During the year, the Company entered into the following RAFER  ARARIEBEALIE
transactions with related parties: AT 5 :
2004 2003
—TEME —TT=H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B TET THET

Rental expense paid to Ms. Lau Fung Sim, Hi—EEBEARTHEELZ
the spouse of Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, ~ EE2IBEL L
in respect of a director quarter YRzHEERY (a) 17 336

Rental expense paid to Mr. Anthony Francis B—E8IBEERZEHB L4
Neoh in respect of a staff quarter TRz BER% () 80 9%

Rental expense paid to Solutions Lab Pte. Ltd. # — i A Z £ {i [ Solutions Lab

in respect of an office premise Pte. Ltd. XM 2 &% (a) 8 181
Legal and professional fees % 1 F0'Melveny 2 % 2 K
paid to O’Melveny EXER (b) 430 780
Notes: B &t
(a) The transactions were carried out in accordance with (a) ZERSIBERBEE RZEER
terms of the relevant tenancy agreements. HEAT o

(b) The transaction was carried at market price. (b) ZBEXG TR EELT o

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Besides, interest on loans from shareholders charged at

the agreed interest rate disclosed in note 9.

In addition, on 15 January 2000, GDC Entertainment
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
assignment with Moebius Strip Limited (formerly known
as Butterfly Dance Holdings Limited), in which Mr.
Raymond Dennis Neoh was one of the shareholders, for
the assignment of the copyright and all other rights in
and to the Film. Pursuant to the assignment (which was
supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 2 May
2003), the assignment consideration consists of (i)
US$60,000; (ii) deferred net profit from the Group’s film
production of the Film up to a maximum of US$240,000
should the Group’s film production generates a net profit
as defined in the assignment; and (iii) 3% of the net
profit from the Group’s production of the Film in excess
of US$240,000 from time to time. As at 31 December
2003, the intellectual property rights as referred to in (i)
above of approximately HK$467,000 (equivalent to
US$60,000) was paid and is included in production work
in progress. The equity interest held by Mr. Raymond
Dennis Neoh was sold to a third party during the year
ended 31 December 2003.

Details of balances with related parties as at the balance
sheet date are set out in the consolidated balance sheet
and in notes 20, 22, 23, 24 and 27, and details of a
counter-guarantee given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh
are set out in note 26.

37.
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GDC Entertainment Limited (7K 2 &
2 BB 7)) #Moebius Strip Limited
(BT #8 Butterfly Dance Holdings
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RZEEE)  AXRSERERIEZT
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RGNAEBEREZZR THEBEBR
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()BTt 2 0 58 22 4 2 9 49467,000 7T
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38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2004 are as

follows:

Name of subsidiary

fEAREHE

GDC (BVI) Limited

GDC (BVI) Limited

GDC Holdings Limited

GDC Holdings Limited

GDC Asset Management
Limited

GDC Asset Management
Limited

GDC Capital Limited

GDC Capital Limited

Form of

business structure

EHARER

Incorporated

Ak

Incorporated

AL

Incorporated

AL

Incorporated

Bl

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #

Place of
incorporation/

establishment
e/
P 37 3 2

The British Virgin
[slands (the “BVI")

ABRLES

((RBRZES])

The BVI

ABRLES

The BVI

RERLES

Hong Kong

&b
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38. FEMBLARZHERE
NRZZEEME+—_A=+—8 ' KB

RAZHENT

Particulars
Attributable

equity interest

of issued
share capital/

paid up capital of the Group

BEfARE/ ARHE
BRBAZHE el R

directly indirectly

E# A&
% %

521,418,075 ordinary 100 -
shares of US$0.01
each

521,418,075f% 100 -
BREBOIET
ZERR

521,418,075 ordinary - 100
shares of US$0.01
each

521,418,0758% - 100
BREBET

1 ordinary shares - 100
of US$1

IREREFIET - 100
ZEBR

2 ordinary shares - 100
of HK$1 each
WEEREEIET - 100

Principal
activities and

place of operation
FTEEHBR
T i 5

Investment holding

in Hong Kong

REAREER

Investment holding
in Hong Kong

REERERR

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
REBREER

Dormant
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Name of subsidiary

MERRAMR

GDC China Limited

GDC China Limited

GDC Entertainment Limited
("GDC Entertainment”)

GDC Entertainment Limited

(IGDC Entertainment] )

GDC Technology Limited

GDC Technology Limited

Form of

business structure

EBARER

Incorporated

A AR

Incorporated

A AL

Incorporated

A AR

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
HK L,/
£k 3L 30 B

Hong Kong

BR

The BVI

RABRZES

The BVI

RABRLES

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (R B Mf i o

=

b

38. TEMBAR 2B (H)

Particulars

of issued

share capital/
paid up capital
BEARE/
BRRAZ

2 ordinary shares
of HK$1 each
QREREEIET

ZEBR

3,510 ordinary shares
of US$1 each

3510 BRAEI1ET

LB

1 ordinary shares
of US§1

IREREEIXT
R

Attributabl

e

equity interest

of the Group

A&EE
el g
directly
BE
%

indirectly

ik

%

Principal

activities and
place of operation
FTEEHBR
man

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
REBREAR

Animation investment,
licensing and
merchandising
distribution in
a worldwide basis

REHETH
R RE-
R R A7 H

Provision of
computing solutions
for digital content
distribution
and exhibitions in
a worldwide basis

ReRREE
RAETRER
REE K
BRHR

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

38.

(Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Gl NGRS

GDC Technology Pte. Ltd.

GDC Technology Pte. Ltd

RAUBERERE(LE)
BRAH

Institute of Digital Media
Technology (Shanghai)
Limited

RRABHERE (L)
BRAA

Form of

business structure

EBARER

Incorporated

AL

Incorporated

B4l

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
HK L,/
£k 3L 30 B

Singapore

g

The PRC

E

" 2 NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

38. TEMBAR 2B (H)

Particulars

of issued

share capital/
paid up capital
BEARE/
BRRAZ

2 ordinary shares
of US§1

IREBREEIXRT
gl

Registered capital
of US$140,000

F AR 2K 140,000% T

Attributable
equity interest

of the Group

A&EE
el g
directly indirectly

BE A&
% %

= 100

Principal

activities and
place of operation
FTEEHBR
man

Provision of
solutions for digital
computing
content distribution
and exhibitions in
a worldwide basis

RERRBERNR
BARERRE
ERBAAR

Provision of computer
graphics and
animation training
in the PRC

R B R ER
B&ELBE
3 (3E]



38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Form of

business structure

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (R B Mf i o

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Bk B B &
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38. TEMBAR 2B (H)

Particulars
of issued
share capital/

paid up capital

Attributable

equity interest

of the Group

Principal
activities and
place of operation

HK L,/ BREARE/ A&EE IRXBR
(i PNGER FBARES PRR:E ] BRRAZGHE Fefh g BEE
directly indirectly
E#% A&
% %
REREBEHERE (R Incorporated The PRC Registered capital - 100 Provision of computer
BRAF of US$2,000,000 graphics and
Institute of Digital Media animation training,
Technology (Shenzhen) development of
Limited multimedia software
and hardware, and
provision of related
technical
consultancy
services in the PRC
RRUBHBRE (RI) ML e AR - 100 ROBERHER
ARAT 2,000,000% 7. B&RBEHHE
Bl RESER
BRI RRH
VB R A AR 7

ZEMBRARRAFEEA RN FER
BRTEMNES -

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities

during the year and at the end of the year.

Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited “
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39.

D

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 13 January 2005, SCG issued an offer document in
respect of voluntary conditional share exchange offer by
DBS Asia Capital Limited on behalf of Upper Nice Assets
Ltd. (the "Offeror”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of SCG,
to acquire all the issued shares of, and a voluntary
conditional cash offer to cancel all the outstanding options

of, the Company.

On the closing date of the above mentioned offers on 1
March 2005, the Offeror received valid acceptances in
respect of 658,466,023 shares of the Company and
22,631,615 options of the Company (8,331,615 options
granted to Sotas Limited and 14,300,000 options granted
to the directors of the Company), representing
approximately 82.2% of the existing issued share capital
of the Company and 100% of the outstanding options
of the Company respectively. Hence, SCG became a
holding company of the Company and all the outstanding

options have been cancelled.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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22,631,615 & 2~ 7 ¥ R #
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

FINANCIAL SUMMARY B B HE e

o A A s
%TEI%:%,E\

For the year ended 31 December 2004

AE-TEMFI-A=t-ALFE

2001 2002 2003 2004
—ET—F —TT_F —EE=F —EENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FAEL FAET FHET
Turnover EER 2,240 2,306 11,478 47,987
Loss from operations mEEE (10,235) (15,633) (28,045) (124,766)
Finance costs B & A (82) (1,796) (5,255) (5,545)
Loss before income tax BrETEFAIE 18 (10,317) (17,429) (33,300) (130,311)
Income tax credit (expense) FT{3Fi 4 % (5 %) - - 151 (25)
Net loss for the year FEBRFE (10,317) (17,429) (33,149) (130,336)

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES neEERAR

At 31 December
Rt+t-—A=+—8

2001 2002 2003 2004
—EET—F —ETT-F —EE=F —EENEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FAET FET
Total assets BEE 45,029 81,929 146,003 69,060
Total liabilities Bafr (17,751) (76,502) (77,561) (122,621)
Net assets (liabilities) EEFEBEFE) 27,278 5,427 68,442 (53,561)
Note: The results for each of the two years ended 31 December 2002 Wit ARAREHRBEBE_ZT_F+_A=+

which were extracted from the prospectus dated 23 July 2003
issued by the Company have been prepared as if the Company
had always been the holding company of the Group from the
beginning of the earliest period presented, using the merger
method.

—HIEMBEFESFZEE (HEREAAR
RZZZ=F+tA-F+=AHBEZBRE
B)  BMARBBEARHERINEAZ
RERRRAGE-BERAEBEZERAF

_t-x"
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¥ I CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices
of the Group that were in place during the period after the
listing of Shares in August 2003.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors comprises eight directors, namely Mr.
Anthony Francis Neoh (Joint Chairman); Mr. Cao Zhong (Joint
Chairman); Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh (Vice Chairman); Mr. Chen
Zheng (General Manager); Mr. David Deng Wei (Vice Chairman);
Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung; Professor Japhet Sebastian Law
and Mr. Paul Kwan Yuen Chiu.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee was established on 3 August 2003 and

comprises not less than three members of the Non-executive
Directors of the Company, the majority of whom is independent.
It acts in an advisory capacity and makes recommendations to
the Board on issues such as, the appointment of external auditors;
scope of the external audit; the review of internal control systems;
and the review of financial statements on their completeness

and accuracy before submission to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2004, four meetings of the
Audit Committee were held, with the presence of the external
auditors. The members of the Audit Committee are: Mr. Gordon
Kwong Che Keung (Chairman), Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh and
Professor Japhet Sebastian Law of whom two are Independent

Non-executive Directors and one Non-executive Director.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 3 August 2003
and comprises two members. It acts in an advisory capacity on
issues such as remuneration of senior executives and bonus and

incentives payment.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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During the year ended 31 December 2004, four meetings of the
Remuneration Committee were held. The members of the
Remuneration Committee are Professor Japhet Sebastian Law
(Chairman), and Dr. David Deng Wei.

DISCLOSURE POLICY COMMITTEE

The Disclosure Policy Committee was established on 7 November
2003 and comprises Non-executive Directors of the Company.
The objective of the Disclosure Policy Committee is to ensure
that communications to the investing public about the Company
are timely, factual, complete and accurate; and broadly
disseminated in accordance with all applicable legal and
regulatory requirements. To meeting this objective, it lays down
benchmarks for a preliminary assessment of materiality and will

determine when developments justify public disclosure.

During the year ended 31 December 2004, no meeting of the
Disclosure Policy Committee was held as it was only recently
established. The members of the Disclosure Policy Committee
are Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh (Chairman), Dr. David Deng Wei,
Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung, Professor Japhet Sebastian Law,
and Mr. Stephen Scharf.

i

ES

2

REBEZE-_ZTTNF+_A=+—HLFE
N -HeZESBRATHRAEH -MEZEB
CrREKNERBRXEHE (EE) RBER
+ o

FEBRXRZES

BFERRZEER _TT=F+—AtBK
o KBHBARFRERITESHEK o R
%é%@Z%E%%%E&ﬁFK alz
ARBRANTARE - EE B AT (T
%ﬁ:ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ% ERZHETERE
RBEHERE - REERTE  BBEBXRZER

SRR LHEMATEE YK ERR
EHEREMNARAIREZBERATEEAR
EE -

HRBRBERRZEENREA KL - RER
BE-_TZTWNE+-_A=+—BLEFEERL
ZAHANEE BBERREZEGZKER
REHEE (XR) HEBL BERE
A~ 78 N EE #UR K Stephen Scharfft & o
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& - NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

}-L hY :.: AY
BRREBFRXREBS
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual general meeting (the
"AGM") of the members of Global Digital Creations Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) will be held at 33/F Sonata Gemini &
Libra Room, Rosedale on the Park e Hong Kong, 8 Shelter Street,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong on 30 May 2005 at 10:00 a.m. for
the following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the audited consolidated financial
statements and the reports of the directors and auditors
for the year ended 31 December 2004;

2. To re-elect Directors and to authorise the board of directors
("Board”) to fix the Directors’ remuneration;

3. To ratify the appointment and re-appoint Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as auditors and authorise the Board to fix their
remuneration;

4. As special business to consider and, if thought fit, pass the
following resolution with or without modifications, as

Ordinary Resolution:

“THAT the Board be authorised from time to time to appoint
additional director to the Board and the maximum number

of Directors of the Company shall be 11.”

5. As special business to consider and, if thought fit, pass the
following resolutions with or without modifications, as
Ordinary Resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

(A) "THAT

(@) subject to paragraph (b) of this Resolution, the
exercise by the Directors during the Relevant
Period (as hereinafter defined) of all the powers
of the Company to purchase ordinary shares in
the capital of the Company on the Growth
Enterprise Market (the "GEM") of The Stock

ANNUAL REPORT 2004 & #
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Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”)
or on any other stock exchange on which the
securities of the Company may be listed and
recognized by The Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (“Securities and
Futures Commission”) and the Exchange for this
purpose, subject to and in accordance with all
applicable laws and the requirements of the
Securities and Futures Commission and the
Exchange or any other stock exchange as amended
from time to time and all applicable laws in this
regard, be and is hereby generally and
unconditionally approved;

the total nominal amount of shares of the
Company to be purchased pursuant to the
approval in paragraph (a) above during the
Relevant Period shall not exceed 10 per cent. of
the total nominal amount of the share capital of
the Company in issue on the date of this
Resolution and the said approval shall be limited
accordingly; and

for the purpose of this Resolution, “Relevant
Period” means the period from the passing of
this Resolution until whichever is the earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(ii) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this Resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meetings; or

(iii) the expiration of the period within which
the next annual general meeting of the
Company is required by the Bye-laws of the
Company or any applicable laws of Bermuda
to be held.”;
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“THAT

(a)

subject to the following provisions of this
Resolution and pursuant to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the
Exchange, the exercise by the Directors during
the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) of all
the powers of the Company to allot, issue and
deal with additional shares in the share capital of
the Company and to make or grant offers,
agreements and options which would or might
require the exercise of such powers be and is
hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

the approval in paragraph (a) of this Resolution
shall be in addition to any other authorisation
given to the Directors and shall authorise the
Directors during the Relevant Period to make or
grant offers, agreements and options which would
or might require the exercise of such powers
during or after the end of the Relevant Period;

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital
allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or
otherwise) and issued by the Directors pursuant
to the approval in paragraph (a) of this Resolution,
otherwise than pursuant to (i) a rights issue where
shares are offered to shareholders of the Company
or any class thereof on a fixed record date in
proportion to their then holdings of shares or
any class thereof (subject to such exclusions or
other arrangements as the Directors may deem
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional
entitlements or having regard to any restrictions
or obligations under the laws of, or the
requirements of any recognized regulatory body
or any stock exchange in any territory outside
Hong Kong); or (ii) the exercise of any options
granted under any option scheme or similar
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arrangement for the time being adopted by the
Company for the grant or issue to eligible
participants thereunder or rights to acquire shares
in the capital of the Company; or (iii) any scrip
dividend or similar arrangement providing for the
allotment of shares in lieu of the whole or part of
a dividend on shares of the Company in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company in
force from time to time, shall not exceed 20 per
cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the
share capital of the Company in issue as at the
date of the passing of this Resolution and the
said approval shall be limited accordingly; and

for the purpose of this Resolution, “Relevant
Period” means the period from the passing of
this Resolution until whichever is the earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(ii) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this Resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meetings; or

(iii) the expiration of the period within which
the next annual general meeting of the
Company is required by the Bye-laws of the
Company or any applicable laws of Bermuda
to be held.”;

“THAT conditional upon Resolution 4(B) above being
passed, the general mandate granted to the Directors
to exercise the powers of the Company to allot, issue
and deal with shares and to make or grant offers,
agreements and options which would or might require
the exercise of such powers be and is hereby extended
by the total nominal amount of shares in the capital
of the Company repurchased by the Company since
the granting of a general mandate to the Directors to
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exercise the powers of the Company to purchase such
shares, provided that such amount shall not exceed 10
per cent. of the total nominal amount of the share
capital of the Company in issue on the date of this
Resolution.”.

By Order of the Board
Cheung Kei Yim

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 28 April 2005

Head office and principal place of business:

Suites

1804-05,

Hutchison House,
10 Harcourt Road,
Central,

Hong Kong

Notes:

A Shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled
to appoint a proxy to attend and on a poll, vote in his stead at
the AGM that the appointment shall specify the number and
class of shares in respect of which such proxy is so appointed. A
proxy need not be a member of the Company.

In order to be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy and the
power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is
signed, or a notarially certified copy of such power of authority,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Standard Registrars Limited at G/F, Bank of East
Asia Harbour View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for
holding the AGM or any adjournment thereof.

Details of the retiring directors and the change of auditors and
explanatory statements setting out further information regarding
Resolutions 2 to 5 above will be dispatched to the Shareholders,
together with the Annual Report 2004.
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